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TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS:

 

 We are pleased to report a banner year in 2005 in terms of both operational performance and in our continuing focus on SAFETY. 

 For 2005, the full-year operating ratio was 89.0%, or 87.7% excluding the impact of fuel surcharges. Total operating revenue for the 
year surpassed $3 billion for the fi rst time ever, at $3.1 billion. The Truck segment operating ratio improved 50 basis points to 88.4%, while 
the Dedicated Contract Services (DCS) segment improved 210 basis points to 88.1%. The Intermodal segment operating ratio was 90.4%, 
including a previously announced $25.8 million arbitration charge recorded in the third quarter of 2005. Excluding the arbitration charge, 
the Intermodal operating ratio was 88.4% and the overall operating ratio for the Company was 88.2%.

 We are pleased with the Company’s fi nancial results for 2005, which refl ect a 25% return on equity and a 23% return on average 
invested capital for the year. Freight activity in February through June 2005 was not as robust as 2004 had been, but August through the 
end of the year saw accelerating demand in Intermodal, DCS and Truck. As a result, profi tability improved, resulting in a record year for 
revenue and profi ts. We had to absorb additional purchased transportation expense in our Intermodal segment as a result of the terms of 
arbitration and still achieved an operating ratio of 87.6% for the Company in the fourth quarter, the fi rst full quarter after the arbitration 
was fi nal, and a 28% increase in diluted earnings per share, excluding the tax charge for the fourth quarter of 2004. DCS led the Company 
in profi tability for the year, slightly edging out Truck. In fact, at 87.1% for the fourth quarter, a 110-basis-point improvement over the fourth 
quarter of 2004, DCS reached record profi tability for that segment. The Truck operating ratio of 85.8% in the fourth quarter was the best 
margin we have seen in that segment in 17 years. Excluding the dilutive effect of higher fuel surcharge revenue, as some of our competitors 
do in reporting operating ratios, the Truck operating ratio was 83.8% for the fourth quarter and 87.0% for the year. Recent recognition by 
many of our customers for outstanding service and value creation is one of the explanations for the increase in business we see across our 
segments. It is due to the dedication and professionalism of our entire team that we have been able to improve service to our customers over 
the past several years. 

 Just as importantly, our SAFETY culture continues to be at the forefront of our organization. In 2005, we were able to duplicate the 
fi ne performance we saw in 2004 in Department of Transportation (DOT) accidents per million miles and DOT preventable accidents 
per million miles. We improved upon our already-impressive results in injuries per one hundred drivers and injuries per one hundred 
shop personnel over the previous year and maintained our place at the top of the industry in safe operations. One signifi cant outcome of 
our industry-leading SAFETY results over the past several years is the establishment of a multi-year, $500,000 deductible for our primary 
insurance coverage applicable to 2006 and 2007. This compares favorably with our previous $2 million deductible. While increasing our 
fi xed costs, lowering the deductible should create less volatility in our earnings. We will, of course, continue our relentless efforts to reduce 
the claims under this lower deductible to realize potential cost reductions.

 One thing we know for certain: Success does not come without a winning strategy, detailed planning and excellence in execution. In 
order to extend the success the Company has achieved in recent years, we must remain focused on the fundamentals of execution for our 
business. We are driven by the opportunity to exceed our customers’ expectations around their supply chain needs through best-in-class 
service and innovation. Customer Value Delivery™ is our passion. Operational excellence while achieving best-in-class SAFETY is our 
objective. We will continue to pursue excellence in all our endeavors and meaningful returns for our stockholders as a result.

 Thank you for your continued interest and support.

 Kirk Thompson

 Wayne Garrison
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J.B. HUNT TRANSPORT SERVICES, INC.
615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive

Lowell, Arkansas 72745
(479) 820-0000

Internet Site: www.jbhunt.com
_____________________________________________________________________________

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

To Be Held on April 20, 2006
_____________________________________________________________________________

 The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. (the “Company”) will be held on April 20, 2006, at 

10:00 a.m. (CDT) at the Company’s headquarters, located at 615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive, Lowell, Arkansas, for the following purposes:

 (1)  To elect three (3) Class II Directors for a term of three (3) years

 (2)  To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent public accountants for the next fi scal year

 (3)  To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournments thereof

 Only stockholders of record on January 31, 2006, will be entitled to vote at the meeting or any adjournments thereof. The stock transfer 

books will not be closed.

 The 2005 Annual Report to Stockholders is included in this publication.

 By Order of the Board of Directors

 JOHNELLE D. HUNT

 Secretary

Lowell, Arkansas

March 15, 2006

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

PLEASE EXECUTE YOUR PROXY WITHOUT DELAY
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HOW TO VOTE IF YOU ARE A STOCKHOLDER OF RECORD

 Your vote is important. You can save the Company the expense of a second mailing by voting promptly. Stockholders of record can 
vote by telephone, on the Internet, by mail or by attending the Meeting and voting by ballot as described below. (Please note: if you are 
a benefi cial owner, please refer to your proxy card or the information forwarded by your bank, broker or other holder of record to see 
which options are available to you.)

 The Internet and telephone voting procedures are designed to authenticate stockholders by use of a control number and to allow 
you to confi rm that your instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote by telephone or on the Internet, you do not need to return 
your proxy card. Telephone and Internet voting facilities for stockholders of record will be available 24 hours a day and will close at 
11:59 p.m. on April 19, 2006.

VOTE BY TELEPHONE
 You can vote by calling the toll-free telephone number on your proxy card. Easy-to-follow voice prompts allow you to vote your shares 
and confi rm that your instructions have been properly recorded.

VOTE ON THE INTERNET
 You also can choose to vote on the Internet. The website for Internet voting is www.computershare.com/us/proxy. As with the telephone 
voting, you can confi rm that your instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote on the Internet, you can also request electronic 
delivery of future proxy materials.

VOTE BY MAIL
 If you choose to vote by mail, simply mark your proxy, date and sign it, and return it to Computershare Trust Company, N.A., in the 
postage-paid envelope provided. If the envelope is missing, please mail your completed proxy card to J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc., 
c/o Computershare Trust Company, N.A., P.O. Box 43101, Edison, New Jersey 08818-9271.

VOTING AT THE ANNUAL MEETING
 The method by which you vote will not limit your right to vote at the Annual Meeting if you decide to attend in person. If your shares 
are held in the name of a bank, broker or other holder of record, you must obtain a proxy, executed in your favor, from the holder of record 
to be able to vote at the Meeting.

 All shares that have been properly voted and not revoked will be voted at the Annual Meeting. If you sign and return your proxy card 
but do not give voting instructions, the shares represented by that proxy will be voted as recommended by the Board of Directors.
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J.B. HUNT TRANSPORT SERVICES, INC.
615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive

Lowell, Arkansas 72745
(479) 820-0000

Internet Site: www.jbhunt.com
_____________________________________________________________________________

PROXY STATEMENT
_____________________________________________________________________________

 This Proxy Statement and the accompanying proxy card are being mailed in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of 
Directors (the “Board”) of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. (the “Company”), for use at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders. This Proxy 
Statement was fi rst mailed to stockholders of the Company on March 15, 2006.

 This introduction is a summary of selected information from this Proxy Statement and may not contain all of the information that is 
important to you. To better understand the nominees being solicited for Directors and the proposals that are submitted for a vote, you should 
carefully read this entire document and other documents to which we refer.

 The proxies being solicited hereby are being solicited by the Company. The expense of soliciting proxies, including the cost of preparing, 
assembling and mailing the material submitted herewith, will be paid by the Company. The Company will also reimburse brokerage fi rms, 
banks, trustees, nominees and other persons for the expense of forwarding proxy material to benefi cial owners of shares held by them of 
record. Solicitations of proxies may be made personally or by telephone or telegraphic communications, by Directors, offi cers and regular 
employees, who will not receive any additional compensation in respect of such solicitations.

When and Where Is the Annual Meeting?
Date:   Thursday, April 20, 2006
Time:   10:00 a.m., Central Daylight Time
Location:   J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.
    Corporate Offi ces 
    1st Floor Auditorium
    615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive
    Lowell, Arkansas 72745 

What Is the Purpose of the Annual Meeting?
 At the Company’s Annual Meeting, stockholders will act upon matters outlined in the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting. In 
addition, the Company’s management will report on the performance of the Company during calendar year 2005.

Who Is Entitled to Vote?
 Only stockholders of record at the close of business on the record date, January 31, 2006, are entitled to receive the Notice of Annual 
Meeting and to vote the shares of common stock that they held on that date at the Meeting or at any postponement or adjournment of the 
Meeting. Each outstanding share entitles its holder to cast one vote on each matter to be voted on.

Who Can Attend the Meeting?
 All stockholders as of the record date, or their duly appointed proxies, may attend the Meeting, and each may be accompanied by one 
guest. Seating is limited and will be on a fi rst-come, fi rst-served basis. Registration will begin at 9:30 a.m. and seating will be available at 
approximately 9:30 a.m. 

No cameras, electronic devices, large bags, briefcases or packages 
will be permitted at the Meeting
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 Please note that if you hold your shares in “street name” (that is, through a broker or other nominee), you will need to bring a copy of 
a brokerage statement refl ecting your stock ownership as of the record date and check in at the registration desk at the Meeting.

What Constitutes a Quorum?
 The presence at the Meeting, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock outstanding on the record 
date will constitute a quorum, permitting the Company to conduct its business. As of the record date, 153,822,689 shares of common stock 
of the Company were outstanding. Proxies received, but marked as abstentions and broker non-votes, will be included in the calculation of 
the number of shares considered to be present at the Meeting.

Can a Stockholder Nominate a Director?
 The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors will consider a candidate properly and timely 
recommended for Directorship by a stockholder or group of stockholders of the Company. The recommendation must be submitted by 
one or more stockholders that own individually, or as a group benefi cially, 2% or more of the outstanding common stock. Stockholder 
recommendations must be submitted to the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee in writing via Certifi ed 
U.S. mail not less than 120 days prior to the fi rst anniversary of the date of the Proxy Statement relating to the Company’s previous Annual 
Meeting. Recommendations must be addressed as follows:

J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.
Chairman, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive
Lowell, Arkansas 72745

DIRECTOR CANDIDATE RECOMMENDATION

Generally, candidates for a Director position should possess:
 •   relevant business and fi nancial expertise and experience, including an understanding of fundamental fi nancial statements;
 •   the highest character and integrity and a reputation for working constructively with others;
 •   suffi cient time to devote to meetings and consultation on Board matters;
 •   freedom from confl icts of interest that would interfere their with performance as a Director.

 The full text of the Company’s “Policy Regarding Director Recommendations by Stockholders” and “Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee Directorship Guidelines and Selection Policy” is published on the Company’s website at www.jbhunt.com and can 
be found under the caption “Who We Are”/“Investor Relations”/“Corporate Governance.”

How Can I Communicate Directly with the Board?
 Stockholder communications to the Board of Directors, any Committee of the Board of Directors, or any individual Director must be 
sent in writing via Certifi ed U.S. mail to the Corporate Secretary at the following address:

J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.
Attention: Corporate Secretary
615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive

Lowell, Arkansas 72745

 The Company’s “Stockholder Communications Policy” is published on the Company’s website at www.jbhunt.com and can be found 
under the caption “Who We Are”/“Investor Relations”/“Corporate Governance.”

How Do I Vote?
 The enclosed proxy card indicates the number of shares you own. There are four ways to vote:
 •   By Internet at www.computershare.com/us/proxy; we encourage you to vote this way
 •   By toll-free telephone at the number shown on your proxy card
 •   By completing and mailing your proxy card
 •   By written ballot at the Meeting

 If you vote by Internet or telephone, your vote must be received before midnight of the day before the Meeting. Your shares will be 
voted as you indicate. If you do not indicate your voting preferences, Wayne Garrison and Kirk Thompson will vote your shares FOR 
Proposals 1 and 2.

If you Vote by Telephone or on the Internet, You Do NOT Need to Return Your Proxy Card

 If you complete and properly sign the accompanying proxy card and return it to the Company, or tender your vote via telephone or the 
Internet, it will be voted as you direct. If you attend the Meeting, you may deliver your completed proxy card in person. Proxies duly executed 
and returned by a stockholder, and not revoked prior to or at the Meeting, will be voted in accordance with the instructions thereon.
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 If your shares are held in “street name,” you will need to contact your broker or other nominee to determine whether you will be able 
to vote by telephone or Internet.

What Are the Board’s Recommendations?
 Unless you give other instructions on your proxy card, the persons named as proxy holders on the proxy card will vote in accordance 
with the recommendations of the Board of Directors. The Board’s recommendation is set forth together with each proposal in this Proxy 
Statement. In summary, the Board recommends a vote:
 •   For the election of the nominated slate of Directors (see pages 8-10)
 •  For the ratifi cation of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent auditors (see page 23)

 As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Board knows of no other business that may properly be, or is likely to be, brought before the 
Annual Meeting. With respect to any other matter that properly comes before the Meeting, the proxy holders will vote as recommended by 
the Board of Directors or, if no recommendation is given, at their own discretion.

What Vote Is Required to Approve Each Proposal?
 •    Election of Directors. The affi rmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast at the Meeting is required for the election of Directors. 

A properly executed proxy marked “WITHHOLD AUTHORITY” with respect to the election of one or more of the Directors will 
not be voted with respect to the Director or Directors indicated, although it will be counted for purposes of determining whether 
there is a quorum.

 •   Other Proposals. For each other proposal, the affi rmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares represented in person or by 
proxy and entitled to vote on the item will be required for approval. A properly executed proxy marked “ABSTAIN” with respect to 
any such matter will not be voted, although it will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum. Accordingly, 
an abstention will have the effect of a negative vote. 

 If you hold shares in “street name” through a broker or other nominee, your broker or nominee may not be permitted to exercise voting 
discretion with respect to some of the matters to be acted upon. Thus, if you do not give your broker or nominee specifi c instructions, your 
shares may not be voted on those matters and will not be counted in determining the number of shares necessary for approval. Shares 
represented by such “broker non-votes” will, however, be counted in determining whether there is a quorum.

 The authorized common stock of the Company consists of 1,000,000,000 shares at $.01 par value. As of the close of business on 
January 31, 2006, there were 153,822,689 shares eligible to vote.

Can I Change My Vote After I Return the Proxy Card?
 Yes. Even after you have submitted your proxy, you may change your vote at any time before the proxy is exercised by fi ling with the 
Secretary of the Company either a notice of revocation or a duly executed proxy bearing a later date. The powers of the proxy holders will 
be suspended if you attend the Meeting in person and so request, although attendance at the Meeting will not by itself revoke a previously 
granted proxy.

You Should Carefully Read this Proxy Statement in its Entirety

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BOARD
 The Board of Directors is currently divided into three classes, each having three-year terms that expire in successive years. The term of 
offi ce of Directors in each class expires at the Annual Meeting held on the following dates: 

 Class Year Term Expires

 Class I 2008

 Class II 2006

 Class III 2007

 The shares represented by your proxy will be voted at the 2006 Annual Meeting for the election of all nominees unless you 
instruct otherwise.
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PROPOSAL ONE – 
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

 Our Bylaws provide that the number of directors shall not be less than three or more than twelve, with the exact number to be fi xed by 
the Board. The Board of Directors proposes that the nominees for Class II Directors described below be re-elected for a new term of three 
years and until their successors are duly elected and qualifi ed. All nominees are currently serving as Class II Directors. 

 Each of the nominees has consented to serve the term for which he is nominated. If any nominee becomes unavailable for election, 
which is not anticipated, the Directors’ proxies will vote for the election of such other person as the Board may nominate, unless the Board 
resolves to reduce the number of directors to serve on the Board and thereby reduce the number of directors to be elected at the meeting.

The Board of Directors Recommends that Stockholders Vote 
FOR 

Each of the Nominees Listed Herein

OTHER INFORMATION YOU NEED TO MAKE AN INFORMED DECISION

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Number of Directors and Term of Directors and Executive Offi cers
 The Company’s Bylaws provide that the number of directors shall not be less than three or more than twelve, with the exact number to 
be fi xed by the Board. The Company’s Certifi cate of Incorporation divides the Board into three classes of as equal size as possible, with the 
terms of each class expiring in consecutive years so that only one class is elected in any given year. Currently, there are ten directors, with 
four directors serving in Class I and three directors in serving in Class II and Class III.

 The stockholders of the Company elect successors for directors whose terms have expired at the Company’s Annual Meeting. 
The Board elects members to fi ll new membership positions and vacancies in unexpired terms on the Board. At the Board meeting held on 
January 26, 2006, the Board of Directors adopted a retirement policy. Effective immediately, no director will be eligible to stand for 
re-election once he or she has reached 72 years of age. Executive offi cers are elected by the Board and hold offi ce until their successors are 
elected and qualifi ed or until the earlier of their death, retirement, resignation or removal.

Directors and Executive Offi cers
 The names of the Company’s directors and executive offi cers as of January 31, 2006, and their respective ages and positions are as follows:

Name Age Position
Paul R. Bergant 59 Executive Vice President, Marketing; Chief Marketing Offi cer and President of Intermodal
David N. Chelette 42 Vice President and Treasurer
John A. Cooper, Jr. 67 Class III Director
Donald G. Cope 55 Sr. Vice President, Finance, Controller and Chief Accounting Offi cer
Wayne Garrison 53 Chairman of the Board; Class III Director
Thomas L. Hardeman 68 Class II Director
Craig Harper 48 Executive Vice President, Operations and Chief Operations Offi cer
Bryan Hunt 47 Class III Director
Johnelle D. Hunt 74 Corporate Secretary; Class I Director
Terrence D. Matthews 47 Sr. Vice President, Marketing
David G. Mee 45 Sr. Vice President, Tax and Risk Management
Kay J. Palmer 42 Executive Vice President, Chief Information Offi cer
Coleman H. Peterson 57 Class II Director
Bob D. Ralston 59 Executive Vice President, Equipment and Properties
John N. Roberts, III 41 Executive Vice President and President, Dedicated Contract Services
James L. Robo 43 Class II Director
Kirk Thompson 52 President and Chief Executive Offi cer; Class I Director
Leland E. Tollett 69 Class I Director
Jerry W. Walton 59 Executive Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Offi cer
John A. White 66 Class I Director
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NOMINEES FOR DIRECTOR

CLASS II – TERM EXPIRES APRIL 2009
Thomas L. Hardeman  Director Since 1994
Mr. Hardeman, age 68, is President of BTTB Investments, a private investment company. He served as Corporate Vice President of United 
Parcel Service from 1984 until his retirement in April 1994. He is the former Chairman of the Advisory Board for the Commercial Vehicle 
Safety Alliance, former board member of the Professional Truck Driver Institute of America, and served on the American Legislative 
Exchange Council and the State Government Affairs Council. He also serves as Chairman of the Board for The Foundation for Thought 
and Ethics, a non-profi t corporation.

Coleman H. Peterson  Director Since 2004
Mr. Peterson, age 57, is President and CEO of Hollis Enterprises LLC, a human resources consulting fi rm founded in 2004 following his 
retirement from Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. as its Executive Vice President of the People Division. During his 10-year tenure, Mr. Peterson was 
responsible for recruitment, retention and development of the world’s largest corporate work force. Prior to his experience with Wal-Mart, 
Mr. Peterson spent 16 years with Venture Stores, with his last position as the Senior Vice President of Human Resources. He holds Master’s 
and Bachelor’s degrees from Loyola University of Chicago. He serves as a member of the Board of Directors and chairs the Compensation 
Committees of The ServiceMaster Company and Build-A-Bear Workshop. He served on the Board of Directors for Knockout Holdings Inc. 
through 2005 and has subsequently resigned from that position. He also sits on the Executive Committee of the NAACP, where he serves 
as Treasurer of the NAACP’s Special Contribution Fund. 

James L. Robo Director Since 2002
Mr. Robo, age 43, is President of FPL Energy and Vice President of Corporate Development and Strategy of FPL Group. FPL Group is a U.S. 
electric company whose two main subsidiaries are Florida Power & Light and FPL Energy. Prior to joining the FPL Group in 2002, Mr. Robo 
spent ten years at the General Electric Company. He served as President and Chief Executive Offi cer of GE Mexico from 1997-1999 and was 
President and Chief Executive Offi cer of the GE Capital TIP/Modular Space division from 1999 until February 2002. From 1984 through 
1992, Mr. Robo worked for Mercer Management Consulting. He graduated summa cum laude from Harvard College with a BA in European 
History and subsequently obtained his MBA from Harvard Business School in 1988.

REMAINING MEMBERS OF THE CURRENT BOARD
 The remaining members of the current Board, their experience and qualifi cations as Board members, the class in which they serve, and 
the expiration of their terms are as follows:

CLASS III – TERM EXPIRES APRIL 2007
John A. Cooper, Jr.   Director Since 1990
Mr. Cooper, age 67, is Chairman of the Board of Cooper Communities, Inc. (a private community development company). From 1997 to 
July 2003, Mr. Cooper served as Chief Executive Offi cer and President of Cooper Communities, Inc.

Wayne Garrison  Director Since 1981
Mr. Garrison, age 53, is Chairman of the Board and has held this title since 1995. Joining the Company in 1976 as Plant Manager, he has also 
served the Company as Vice President of Finance in 1978, Executive Vice President of Finance in 1979, President in 1982, Chief Executive 
Offi cer in 1987 and Vice Chairman of the Board from January 1986 until May 1991.

Bryan Hunt Director Since 1991
Mr. Bryan Hunt, age 47, is President of Best Automotive, Best Automotive of Mississippi, Best Buy Here Pay Here, Progressive Auto Finance 
Corporation and Bryan Hunt LLC (all private companies with operations in motor vehicle sales, leasing and fi nancing). He served as Assistant 
Secretary of the Company from October 1988 until May 2000. Until his retirement from the Company in 1997, he served separate terms as 
the Company’s Treasurer and Chief Operating Offi cer of the Van Division. Bryan Hunt is the son of J.B. Hunt and Johnelle D. Hunt.

CLASS I – TERM EXPIRES APRIL 2008
Johnelle D. Hunt Director Since 1993
Mrs. Hunt, age 74, is the Corporate Secretary of the Company. Serving as Credit Manager from 1962 to 1987, she was elected Secretary-
Treasurer in 1972 and served in that capacity until October 1988, at which time she was elected Corporate Secretary. Johnelle D. Hunt is 
the wife of founder and former Senior Chairman of the Board J.B. Hunt and the mother of Bryan Hunt. She also serves on the executive 
committee and as treasurer for the University of Arkansas’ Campaign for the 21st Century and on the board for the Harvey and Bernice Jones 
Eye Institute. She has also been appointed by the Governor of Arkansas to serve on the Mansion Commission for the State of Arkansas.

Kirk Thompson Director Since 1985
Mr. Thompson, age 52, is President and Chief Executive Offi cer of the Company. Mr. Thompson, a certifi ed public accountant, joined the 
Company in 1973. He served as Vice President of Finance from 1979 until 1984, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi cer until 
1985, and President and Chief Operating Offi cer from 1986 until 1987, when he was elected President and Chief Executive Offi cer. 
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Leland E. Tollett Director Since 2001
Mr. Tollett, age 69, is a private investor. He served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi cer of Tyson Foods, Inc. from 1995 
to 1998, when he retired and became a consultant to that company. A Tyson Foods employee since 1959, he also served as President 
and Chief Executive Offi cer from 1991 to 1995. He fi rst became a board member of Tyson Foods, Inc. in 1984 and continues to serve in 
that capacity. 

John A. White  Director Since 1998
Dr. White, age 66, is Chancellor of the University of Arkansas, a position he has held since July 1997. A graduate of the University of 
Arkansas (BSIE), Virginia Tech (MSIE) and The Ohio State University (PhD), he also holds honorary doctorates from the Katholieke 
Universitiet of Leuven in Belgium and from George Washington University. Dr. White is a member of the National Academy of Engineering, 
the National Science Board and the Executive Committee of the Southeastern Research Universities Research Association. He also serves 
on the Board of Directors and the Audit Committees of Logility, Inc., Motorola, Inc., and Russell Corporation. 

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
 The Company pays only independent, non-employee Directors for their services. Directors who are also offi cers of the Company are 
not eligible to receive any of the compensation described below.

 In calendar year 2005, compensation for independent, non-employee Directors, serving on the Board, was as follows:
 •   an annual retainer of $50,000 paid in Company stock, cash or any combination thereof
 •   $4,500 for each Board meeting attended
 •   $1,500 for each Board Committee meeting attended
 •   $3,000 to the chairman of each Committee for each Committee meeting attended
 •   reimbursement of expenses to attend Board and Committee meetings
 •   required stock ownership of three times estimated annual compensation (approximately $74,000)

 The Executive Compensation Committee met on July 21, 2005, with Watson Wyatt, an independent consultant, who was 
commissioned to review competitive market practices, which included an analysis of compensation for the industry and its peer groups. 
The Committee determined that to bring compensation up to the median range of its peers, adjustments were warranted. As such, 
effective January 1, 2006, compensation was implemented for independent, non-employee directors serving on the board and the board’s 
committees as shown below:
 •   an annual retainer of $62,000 paid in Company stock, cash or any combination thereof
 •   $4,500 for each Board meeting attended
 •   $1,500 for each Board Committee meeting attended
 •   $4,000 to the Chairman of the Audit Committee for each Committee meeting chaired
 •   $3,000 to the Chairman of the Executive Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 

for each Committee meeting chaired
 •   reimbursement of expenses to attend Board and Committee meetings
 •   required stock ownership of three times estimated annual compensation (approximately $86,000)
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NON-EMPLOYEE BOARD OF DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 
PAID IN CALENDAR YEAR 2005

  Committee Annual Expense
Board Member Board Fees Fees Retainer Reimbursement Total
John A. Cooper, Jr. $18,000 $ 6,000 $50,000 $1,733 $75,733
Thomas L. Hardeman $18,000 $ 7,000 $50,000 $3,006 $78,006
Bryan Hunt $13,500 $     0 $50,000 $    0 $63,500
Coleman H. Peterson $18,000 $ 7,500 $50,000 $  377 $75,877
James L. Robo $18,000 $12,000 $50,000 $8,427 $88,427
Leland E. Tollett $13,500 $13,500 $50,000 $    0 $77,000
John A. White $13,500 $30,000 $50,000 $    0 $93,500

 Non-employee, independent members of the Board of Directors did not receive any stock options or restricted stock awards in calendar 
year 2005. Each member had the option of receiving his or her annual retainer in Company stock, cash or any combination thereof. All of 
the eligible directors received their annual retainer in Company stock with the exception of Bryan Hunt, who took his retainer in cash and 
Tom Hardeman, who took 40% of his retainer in stock and 60% of his retainer in cash.

 Johnelle D. Hunt, an employee of the Company and member of the Board of Directors, received a salary of $100,000 for her services 
as the Company’s corporate secretary. The Company also submitted payment of $10,000 on her behalf for professional fees and provided a 
Company match of $3,000 to her 401(k) account.

 Bryan Hunt, a member of the Board of Directors, exercised his remaining 266,400 stock options, which created $3,936,708 in taxable 
compensation or market value of $5,110,557. The options were granted to him while he was an employee of the Company and were due to 
expire in 2006.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Duties of the Board
 The Board of Directors has the responsibility to serve as the trustee for the stockholders. It also has the responsibility for establishing 
broad corporate policies and for the overall performance of the Company. The Board, however, is not involved in day-to-day operating 
details. Members of the Board are kept informed of the Company’s business through discussion with the Chairman, Chief Executive Offi cer 
and other offi cers, by reviewing analyses and reports sent to them each month, and by participating in Board and Committee meetings. 

Corporate Governance Guidelines
 We believe that good corporate governance helps ensure that the Company is managed for the long-term benefi t of its stockholders. 
We continue to review our corporate governance policies and practices, corporate governance rules and regulations of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), and the listing standards of the NASDAQ, the stock exchange on which our common stock is 
traded. The Board has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines to assist the Board in the exercise of its responsibilities to the Company 
and its stockholders. The guidelines address, among other items, director independence and qualifi cations. You can access and print the 
charters of our Audit Committee, Executive Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, as well 
as our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Ethical and Professional Standards, Whistleblower Policy and other Company policies 
and procedures required by applicable law or regulation on our website at www.jbhunt.com under the caption “Who We Are”/“Investor 
Relations”/“Corporate Governance.” 

Director Independence
 The Board has determined that no non-employee Director has a material relationship with the Company (either directly or indirectly 
as a partner, stockholder or offi cer of an organization that has a relationship with the Company) and all non-employee Directors meet the 
criteria for independence under the NASDAQ listing standards. The Board has also determined that no member of the Audit Committee, 
Executive Compensation Committee or Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has any material relationship with the 
Company (either directly or indirectly as a partner, stockholder or offi cer of an organization that has a relationship with the Company) and 
that all members of these committees meet the criteria for independence under the NASDAQ. 

 The Board has selected Dr. John A. White to act as presiding Director of executive sessions to be held on a regular basis by non-
employee, independent Directors. This group of Directors met three times in executive session during calendar year 2005. Dr. White 
presided as Chairman in each of these meetings. It will remain standard practice of the Company to conduct these meetings either before or 
after each regularly scheduled Board meeting or on an as-needed basis.

Code of Conduct
 The Board has adopted a Code of Ethical and Professional Standards, applicable to all directors, offi cers and employees of the Company. 
The purpose and role of this Code is to focus our directors, offi cers and employees on areas of ethical risk, provide guidance to help them 
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recognize and deal with ethical issues, provide mechanisms to report unethical or unlawful conduct, and to help enhance and formalize our 
culture of integrity, honesty and accountability. This Code is published on the Company’s website at www.jbhunt.com.

BOARD MEETINGS
 All members of the Board are strongly encouraged to attend each meeting of the Board and meetings of the Board Committees on 
which they serve, as well as the Annual Meeting. Please refer to the Company’s “Director Attendance Policy,” published on the Company’s 
website at www.jbhunt.com under the caption “Who We Are”/“Investor Relations”/“Corporate Governance” for further details.

 The business of the Company is managed under the direction of the Board of Directors, who meet on a regularly scheduled basis during 
its calendar year to review signifi cant developments affecting the Company and to act on matters that require Board approval. Special 
meetings are also held when Board action is required on matters arising between regularly scheduled meetings. The Board of Directors held 
four regularly scheduled meetings and two telephonic meetings during the calendar year 2005. During this period all members of the Board 
participated in at least 75% of all meetings, including the Annual Meeting. 

BOARD COMMITTEES
 Standing committees of the Board include the Audit, Executive Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee. Committee members are elected annually by the Board and serve until their successors are elected and qualifi ed or until their 
earlier resignation or removal.

 The following table discloses the Board members who served on each of the Board’s Committees and the number of meetings held by 
each committee during calendar year 2005. 

  Executive  Nominating and
 Audit Compensation Corporate Governance
John A. Cooper, Jr.  X X
Thomas L. Hardeman  X Chair
Coleman H. Peterson  Chair
James L. Robo X  X
Leland E. Tollett X
John A. White Chair

Number of Meetings 10 4 1

 Upon recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee on January 27, 2006, the Board voted to retain the 
committee appointments as shown above for calendar year 2006.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
 Under the terms of its charter, the Audit Committee represents and assists the Board in fulfi lling its oversight responsibility relating 
to the integrity of the Company’s fi nancial statements and the fi nancial reporting process, the systems of internal accounting and fi nancial 
controls, the internal audit function, the annual independent audit of the Company’s fi nancial statements, the Company’s compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements, the independent auditor’s qualifi cations and independence, the performance of the Company’s internal 
audit function and the performance of its independent auditors. In fulfi lling its duties, the Audit Committee, among other things, shall:
 •   have the sole authority and responsibility to hire, evaluate and, where appropriate, replace the independent auditors;
 •   meet and review with management and the independent auditors the interim fi nancial statements and the Company’s disclosures 

under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations prior to the fi ling of the Company’s 
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q;

 •   meet and review with management and the independent auditors the fi nancial statements to be included in the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K (or the annual report to stockholders), including (a) their judgment about the quality, not just 
the acceptability, of the Company’s accounting principles, including signifi cant fi nancial reporting issues and judgments made 
in connection with the preparation of the fi nancial statements; (b) the clarity of the disclosures in the fi nancial statements; and 
(c) the Company’s disclosures under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, 
including critical accounting policies;

 •   review and discuss with management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors the Company’s policies with respect to 
risk assessment and risk management;

 •   review and discuss with management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors the Company’s internal controls, the 
results of the internal audit program, and the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and quarterly assessment of such 
controls and procedures;

 •   establish procedures for handling complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, and auditing matters, including 
procedures for confi dential, anonymous submission of concerns by employees regarding accounting and auditing matters; and

 •   review and discuss with management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Company’s legal and regulatory programs.
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 Each member of the Audit Committee meets the independence requirements of the NASDAQ, the 1934 Act and the Company’s 
Corporate Governance Guidelines. Each member of the Audit Committee is fi nancially literate, knowledgeable and qualifi ed to review 
fi nancial statements. The “audit committee fi nancial expert” designated by the Board is Dr. John A. White.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
 Under the term of its charter, the Executive Compensation Committee has overall responsibility for evaluating and approving executive 
offi cers’ compensation plans, policies and programs of the Company. In fulfi lling its duties, the Compensation Committee, among other 
things, shall:
 •   review and approve all corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of the Chairman of the Board and Chief 

Executive Offi cer;
 •   evaluate and recommend to the board of directors for their approval, base salaries for the Chairman of the Board, Chief 

Executive Offi cer;
 •   evaluate and approve incentive stock grants for the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Offi cer and all other “insiders” as 

defi ned in Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934;
 •   evaluate the performance of the Chief Executive Offi cer in light of approved corporate goals, performance goals and objectives;
 •   review and approve any employment agreements, severance agreements or arrangements, retirement arrangements, change in 

control agreements/provisions and any special or supplemental benefi ts for each offi cer of the Company;
 •   approve, disapprove, modify or amend any non-equity plans designed and intended to provide compensation primarily for offi cers;
 •   make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding adoption of equity plans; and
 •   administer, modify or amend stock option and restricted stock plans.

 Each member of the Compensation Committee meets the independence requirements of the NASDAQ, the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines.

Executive Compensation Committee Interlocks And Insider Participation
 Messrs. Cooper, Hardeman and Peterson are non-employee, independent Directors of the Company. None of the members of the 
Executive Compensation Committee was an offi cer or an employee of the Company during calendar year 2005. No member of the Committee 
is a former offi cer of the Company or had any related-party transactions with the Company in calendar year 2005.

NOMINATING AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
 The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee develops and maintains the corporate governance policies of J.B. Hunt 
Transport Services, Inc. and assists the Company’s Board of Directors in:
 •   identifying, screening and recruiting qualifi ed individuals to become Board members;
 •   determining the composition of the Board and its Committees;
 •   assisting the Board in assessing the Board’s effectiveness.

 All members of the Committee are qualifi ed as non-employee, independent Directors as determined by the rules of the SEC and 
NASDAQ. Further detail regarding qualifi cations and responsibilities is outlined in the Committee’s charter published on the Company’s 
website at www.jbhunt.com under the caption “Who We Are”/ “Investor Relations”/ “Corporate Governance.” The Committee met one 
time in calendar year 2005. 

 The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee guidelines outline the qualifi cations the Committee looks for in a nominee. 
Generally, the candidate should possess:
 •   relevant business and fi nancial expertise and experience, including an understanding of fundamental fi nancial statements;
 •   the highest character and integrity and a reputation for working constructively with others;
 •   suffi cient time to devote to meetings and consultation on Board matters;
 •   freedom from confl icts of interest that would interfere with performance as a Director; and
 •   other desirable qualifi cations and experience as established by the Committee.

 After assessing and considering prevailing business conditions of the Company, legal and listing standard requirements for Board 
composition, the size and composition of the current Board, and the skills and experience of current Board members, any of the Chairman, 
the Committee or any Board member may identify the need to add a Board member to meet specifi c criteria or to fi ll a vacancy on the Board. 
The Committee identifi es qualifi ed Director nominees from among persons known to the members of the Committee, by reputation or 
otherwise, and through referrals from trusted sources, including senior management, existing Board members, stockholders and independent 
consultants hired for such purpose. The Committee may request that senior offi cers of the Company assist the Committee in identifying and 
assessing prospective candidates who meet the criteria established by the Board.

 Candidates are evaluated based upon their qualifi cations or other relevant information, including a personal interview. The Committee 
convenes a meeting and approves the candidates to be presented to the Board. The Board considers the recommendations of the Committee 
and approves candidates for nomination.
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 The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is comprised of Thomas L. Hardeman, Chairman, John A. Cooper, Jr., and 
James L. Robo. Messrs. Hardeman, Cooper and Robo served as members of the Committee during the entire year of 2005. The Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee met once during calendar year 2005. The Board has determined that all of the members of the Committee 
satisfy independence requirements of the NASDAQ The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter is published on the 
Company’s website at www.jbhunt.com under the caption “Who We Are”/ “Investor Relations”/ “Corporate Governance.” 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
The Executive Compensation Committee
 Compensation of offi cers and senior executives of the Company is determined by the Executive Compensation Committee of the Board 
of Directors (the “Committee”). The Committee, comprised entirely of non-employee, independent Directors, meets: 
 •   to review annual goals and reward annual performance of executives;
 •   to grant stock pursuant to the Company’s Management Incentive Plan;
 •   to establish and certify the achievement of performance goals under the Company’s Management Incentive Plan;
 •   to evaluate and recommend to the Board of Directors for their approval, base salaries and bonus plans for the Company’s Chairman 

and Chief Executive Offi cer;
 •   to evaluate and approve stock grants to the Company’s Chairman, Chief Executive Offi cer and all other “insiders” as defi ned in 

Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934;
 •   to review any other executive compensation. 

 In 2005, the Committee commissioned Watson Wyatt, an independent consultant, to analyze the Company’s current executive 
compensation package to review salaries, bonuses and other compensation for its offi cers and senior executives, including the Chairman, 
Chief Executive Offi cer and Board of Directors. Salary modifi cations and awards of restricted stock were made to more closely align executive 
management with the industry and its peers at the direction of the independent consultant.

General Compensation Policy
 The Company’s executive compensation program is designed to provide fair compensation to executives based on their performance 
and contributions to the Company, provide incentives to attract and retain key executives, and instill a long-term commitment to the 
Company through Company ownership, all in a manner consistent with stockholder interests.

 The executive compensation package has three main components:
 •   base salary, which is reviewed annually
 •   performance-based bonuses that are directly tied to the Company’s earnings per share and are earned annually depending on the 

achievement of pre-established performance-based goals
 •   long-term incentive awards

 This mix of compensation places more of total compensation at risk and emphasizes performance.

 The Committee believes that competitive levels of cash compensation, together with equity and other incentive programs, are necessary 
for the attraction, motivation and retention of the highest-caliber employees. 

Base Salary
 Executives’ base salaries are based on the Company’s performance for the prior calendar year and upon a subjective evaluation of each 
executive’s contribution to that performance and his or her overall corporate responsibilities.

Performance-Based Bonus
 Performance-based cash bonuses are paid quarterly to executives based on the Company’s achievement of pre-established performance 
goals of earnings-per-share amounts. The amount of the bonus paid is a percentage of the executive’s salary. The bonus increases as a 
percentage of base salary as the Company’s earnings per share increases.

Incentive Awards
 Incentive awards are made under the Company’s Management Incentive Plan. As a person’s level of responsibility increases, a greater 
portion of potential total compensation opportunity is shifted from salary to performance-based incentives and to greater reliance on 
growing total return to the stockholders through stock-based awards. This directly aligns the interest of management with stockholders.

Deferred Compensation
 The Company offers the option of deferring a portion of their base salary and/or bonus into a Deferred Compensation Program to a 
select group of management or highly compensated employees as such phrase is defi ned under ERISA. The program is voluntary and the 
employee determines the amount of his or her contribution and choice of investment vehicles. The Company does not contribute to this 
plan. An independent administrator monitors investment options and distributions.
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Equity Compensation Program
 Shares of restricted stock and stock options of the Company are granted under the Management Incentive Plan in an effort to link 
executives’ future compensation to the long-term fi nancial success of the Company. These awards are intended to attract and retain 
employees who contribute to the Company’s success, to provide incentives to enhance job performance of the executives and enable those 
persons to participate in the long-term success and growth through an equity interest in the Company.

 In 2005, the Executive Compensation Committee began granting restricted stock in lieu of stock options under the Management 
Incentive Plan. The Committee believes restricted stock awards are currently more effective than stock options in achieving the Company’s 
compensation objectives, as restricted stock is subject to less market volatility and is potentially less dilutive to the Company’s stock. As 
such, the number of shares granted as restricted stock was one-third of what a normal stock-option grant would have been. Employees realize 
immediate value as restricted stock awards vest, with such value increasing as the Company’s stock performance increases.

 The Compensation Committee anticipates granting restricted stock awards in lieu of stock options for the foreseeable future, but in the 
event stock options are granted, such options will be granted with an exercise price equal to 100% of the fair market value of the Company’s 
common stock on the date of grant.

Management Incentive Plan Information
 The Management Incentive Plan table provides information as of December 31, 2005, with respect to shares of the Company’s common 
stock that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans. 

  Weighted-average  Number of securities 
 Number of securities exercise price of remaining available for 
 allocated to be issued  outstanding  future issuance under 
 through the Management  options and  Management Incentive
 Incentive Plan restricted stock Plan
Management Incentive Plan
  approved by stockholders 44,000,000 $7.5733 12,605,454

Management Incentive Plan
  not approved by stockholders  -  – –

Total 44,000,000    12,605,454

Stock Ownership Guidelines
 To motivate the Company’s offi cers and senior management to emulate its stockholders, the Company strongly encourages ownership 
of Company stock. Stock ownership is defi ned as stock owned:
 •   directly;
 •   through the Company’s 401(k) Employee Retirement Plan, and/or;
 •   through the Company’s Deferred Compensation Plan. 

 The Board of Directors implemented a program that set stock ownership goals for certain categories of offi cers and senior management, 
as shown below.

 Position Ownership Multiple of Base Salary
 Chief Executive Offi cer 6 times
 Executive Vice Presidents 3.5 times
 Senior Vice Presidents and Vice Presidents of Operations 2.75 times
 Vice Presidents, Regional Operations Managers, and Directors of Operations 2 times

 The Committee has determined that as of January 31, 2006, all of the Company’s offi cers and members of senior management covered 
by these guidelines have met their ownership goals.

Employment and Change of Control Arrangements
 The Company has no such contracts or arrangements dealing with employment. The Company does, however, have an adjustment 
provision in its Management Incentive Plan for its outstanding shares in the event of a recapitalization, merger or consolidation.

Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer Compensation
 The Committee has attempted to set base salary and overall compensation for Messrs. Garrison and Thompson competitively with 
companies of similar size and aligned with companies in our respective industry. The goal is to reward these executives for corporate 
performance in line with the interests of the stockholders. 
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 Cash bonuses paid to Messrs. Garrison and Thompson in calendar year 2005 were determined by the previously mentioned formula 
relating bonuses to earnings per share. 

 In calendar year 2005, in accordance with the Committee’s policy of aligning executive interest with the interests of stockholders and 
after review of an evaluation prepared by Watson Wyatt, an independent consultant, the Committee awarded and the Board ratifi ed grants 
of restricted stock for Messrs. Garrison and Thompson. A grant of 20,000 shares was awarded to Mr. Garrison. His grant will vest 25% in 
year 2010, 25% in year 2011 and 50% in year 2012. A grant of 35,000 shares was made to Mr. Thompson that vests 25% in year 2013, 25% 
in year 2014 and 50% in year 2015. The fair market value of our stock on the date of the grants was $18.68.

 Messrs. Garrison’s and Thompson’s cash compensation is comparable to other transportation company peers. After evaluating the 
independent consultant’s review of compensation practices and policies, the Committee recommended, and the Board approved, an increase 
in base salary for Mr. Garrison of $100,000 and an increase in base salary to Mr. Thompson of $40,000. The increases became effective on 
October 21, 2005. Both Messrs. Garrison and Thompson participate in the Company’s 401(k) Employee Retirement Plan.

2006 Performance-Based Compensation
 For calendar year 2006, the Company has established, and the Executive Compensation Committee has approved, a cash bonus 
program for the above-named executives and its senior management. The amount of the bonus earned will be a percentage of the executive’s 
base salary and will increase by percentage of base salary in direct correlation to the Company’s increase in earnings per share similar to 
prior years.

 Tax Deductibility 
 The Company’s Management Incentive Plan is designed to be a performance-based plan as defi ned in the Internal Revenue Code. 
Therefore, under Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m), compensation paid in 2005 under this type of plan is intended to be fully 
deductible, and it is our intention to continue to maximize deductibility to the extent practicable.

Our Conclusion 
 We fi rmly believe that the quality and motivation of all of the Company’s employees, including its managers, make a signifi cant 
difference in the Company’s long-term performance. We also believe that stockholders directly benefi t from compensation programs that:
 •   reward superior performance;
 •   contain an appropriate downside risk element when performance falls short of clearly defi ned standards;
 •   give appropriate administrative fl exibility to achieve their objectives.

 We believe that the Company’s management compensation program meets these requirements and will continue to be an important 
factor in driving the Company’s success.

J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. 
2005 Executive Compensation Committee Members

Coleman H. Peterson, Chairman
John A. Cooper, Jr.

Thomas L. Hardeman
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee
 The Audit Committee is comprised of Dr. John A. White, Chairman, James L. Robo and Leland E. Tollett. Messrs. White, Robo and 
Tollett served as members of the Audit Committee during calendar year 2005. The Company’s Board of Directors has determined that all 
members of the Audit Committee satisfy the independence and other requirements for audit committee membership and has also made 
the determination that Messrs. White, Robo and Tollett each have the attributes of an audit committee fi nancial expert as defi ned by the 
regulations of the SEC.

 The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board. A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available on 
the “Corporate Governance” page of the Company’s website at www.jbhunt.com. It is also attached to this Proxy Notice and Statement as 
Appendix A. In carrying out its responsibilities, the Audit Committee, among other things:
 •   Monitors the integrity of the fi nancial reporting process, systems of internal controls, and fi nancial statements and reports of the 

Company;
 •   Appoints, compensates, retains and oversees the Company’s independent auditors, including reviewing the qualifi cations, 

performance and independence of the independent auditors;
 •   Reviews and pre-approves all audit, attest and review services and permitted non-audit services;
 •   Oversees the performance of the Company’s internal audit function; and
 •   Oversees the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

 In 2005, the Audit Committee met ten times. The Audit Committee schedules its meetings with a view to ensure that it devotes 
appropriate attention to all of its responsibilities and duties. The Audit Committee’s meetings include, whenever appropriate, executive 
sessions with the Company’s independent auditors and the Company’s internal auditors, in each case outside the presence of the 
Company’s management. 

 In performing its oversight role, the Audit Committee reviewed the audited consolidated fi nancial statements for the 2005 calendar 
year and met and held discussions with management, the Company’s internal auditors and Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s independent 
auditors, to discuss those fi nancial statements and the audit related thereto. Management has represented to the Audit Committee that the 
Company’s consolidated fi nancial statements were prepared in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board.

 The Audit Committee discussed with the independent auditors matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards 
No. 61, as may be modifi ed, supplemented or amended, which includes, among other items, matters related to the conduct of the audit of 
the Company’s consolidated fi nancial statements. The independent auditors also provided the Audit Committee with written disclosures 
and the letter required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, as may be modifi ed, supplemented or amended, which relates to 
the auditors’ independence from the Company and its related entities, and the Audit Committee discussed with the independent auditors 
their independence. 

 Based on the Audit Committee’s discussions with management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors as described above, 
and upon its review of the representation of management and the independent auditors and the reports of the independent auditors, the 
Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the Company’s audited consolidated fi nancial statements be included in the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the calendar year ended December 31, 2005, as fi led with the SEC. 

J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.
2005 Audit Committee Members

John A. White, Chairman
James L. Robo 

Leland E. Tollett
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION
 The following table sets forth information concerning total compensation earned or paid by the Company or any of its subsidiaries to 
the Chairman (as one of the fi ve highest-paid executives other than the Chief Executive Offi cer), the Chief Executive Offi cer, and the three 
highest-paid executive offi cers of the Company for such period in all capacities in which they served.

 Long-Term 
 Compensation Awards
    Other Securities Securities
    Annual Underlying Underlying All Other
Principal  Salary  Bonus  Compensation  RSA Options Compensation
and Position Year (1) (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) Total

Wayne Garrison 2005 $415,385 $300,000  $11,363 $373,600  $ 0 $6,300 $1,106,648
Chairman of the 2004  400,000  492,000   7,944        0  0 6,000  905,944
  Board 2003  394,231  234,375   6,873        0 488,000 6,000  1,129,479

Kirk Thompson 2005  566,154  420,000   7,736 653,800         0 6,300 1,653,990
President and 2004  551,923  676,500   7,783        0 2,036,000 6,000 3,278,206
  CEO 2003  509,748  296,875   3,258        0 1,220,000 6,000 2,035,881

Jerry Walton 2005  346,538  258,750   5,232 186,800         0 5,183  802,503
EVP, Finance/ 2004  336,923  412,050   5,225        0  814,400 5,846 1,574,444
  Administration 2003  339,423  203,125   4,541        0  488,000 6,000 1,041,089
  and CFO

Paul Bergant 2005  306,538  228,750  11,750 186,800         0 6,017  739,855
EVP, Marketing, 2004  292,885  356,700   9,981  814,400 6,000  1,479,966
  CMO, President 2003  292,692  175,000   8,049  488,000 6,000  969,741
  of Intermodal 

Craig Harper 2005 292,308 217,500 0 317,560        0 6,300  833,668
EVP, Operations, 2004 277,885 338,250 0        0 977,280 6,000 1,599,415
  and COO 2003 272,885 162,500 0        0 585,600 6,000 1,026,985

(1)  Bonus and salary totals shown above are reported as gross earnings, subject to income tax and payroll tax, and do not refl ect the actual 
net pay received. Totals may include amounts transferred into deferred compensation. All bonuses are reported in the year in which 
they are earned.

(2)  This column includes the aggregate incremental cost to the Company of providing perquisites and personal benefi ts to the named 
executive offi cers for the past three years. Although the cost of the perquisites and personal benefi ts provided to Messrs. Garrison, 
Thompson, Walton, Bergant and Harper did not meet the $50,000 threshold for disclosure, the Company is voluntarily reporting these 
costs. The following details the perquisites described in the table shown above:

 Calendar year 2005 amounts refl ect:
 •   Wayne Garrison, $10,000 for professional fees, $1,363 for personal use of the Company plane.
 •   Kirk Thompson, $4,820 for professional fees and $2,916 for club dues.
 •   Jerry Walton, $5,232 for club dues.
 •   Paul Bergant, $1,680 for professional fees, $8,256 for club dues, $916 for home security and $898 for personal use of the Company plane.
 Calendar year 2004 amounts refl ect:
 •   Wayne Garrison, $7,944 for professional fees.
 •   Kirk Thompson, $1,000 for professional fees, $2,289 for club dues, and $4,494 for personal use of the Company plane.
 •   Jerry Walton, $5,225 for club dues.
 •   Paul Bergant, $1,100 for professional fees, $7,115 for club dues, and $1,766 for personal use of the Company plane.
 Calendar year 2003 amounts refl ect:
 •   Wayne Garrison, $6,500 for professional fees and $373 for personal use of a Company vehicle.
 •   Kirk Thompson, $500 for professional fees, $1,621 for club dues and $1,137 for personal use of the Company plane.
 •   Jerry Walton, $4,541 for club dues.
 •   Paul Bergant, $765 for professional fees, $6,368 for club dues, and $916 for personal use of the Company plane.

(3)  Restricted stock was awarded in calendar year 2005, but not in calendar years 2004 or 2003. Fair market value of shares awarded on 
October 27, 2005, was $18.68 per share. The amounts shown above refl ect the number of shares awarded multiplied by the fair market 
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value on the date of grant. The compensation calculation assumes the executive is still employed by the Company when the vesting 
period occurs.

(4)  Options were awarded in calendar years 2004 and 2003. Values shown above refl ect the number of shares awarded multiplied by the fair 
market price on grant date. However, the named executive offi cer is required to pay the Company at the time of exercise, the option 
cost of the vested and exercised options based on the fair market value on the date of grant. This compensation calculation assumes the 
executive is still employed by the Company when the vesting period occurs. 

(5)  Includes matching contributions to the Company’s 401(k) retirement plan on behalf of each of the above-named executives.

RESTRICTED STOCK GRANTS DURING CALENDAR YEAR 2005
 This table shows all restricted stock grants to the Chairman, President and CEO, and three highest-paid executives of the Company 
during the calendar year ended December 31, 2005. All restricted grants have no cash dividend or voting rights. The fair market value of 
the restricted shares granted on October 27, 2005, was $18.68 per share

 Individual Grants 
  Securities  Percent
  Underlying  of Total  FMV 
  Shares   Shares  Share  Expiration  Value on
Name Granted (#) Granted  Price Date  Date of Grant 

Wayne Garrison 20,000 3.15%   $18.68  8/15/2012   $373,600 

Kirk Thompson 35,000  5.52     18.68  8/15/2015   653,800

Jerry Walton 10,000  1.58     18.68  8/15/2011   186,800

Paul Bergant 10,000  1.58     18.68   8/15/2011   186,800

Craig Harper 17,000  2.68     18.68  8/15/2015   317,560

AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES DURING CALENDAR YEAR 2005 AND
OPTION VALUES ON DECEMBER 31, 2005
 This table shows all stock options exercised by the Chairman, President and CEO, and the three highest-paid executives of the 
Company during the calendar year ended December 31, 2005, and the number and value of options they held at calendar year-end.

   Number of Value of
   Securities Underlying Unexercised
   Unexercised In-the-Money
   Options at Options at
   12/31/05 (#) 12/31/05 (3)
 Shares Acquired  Value Realized Exercisable/  Exercisable/ 
Name on Exercise (#) (1) (2) Un-exercisable Un-exercisable

Wayne Garrison 224,000 $3,350,720  0 E $        0 E
    280,000 U  4,444,800 U

Kirk Thompson 315,644  5,021,335  0 E  0 E
    595,248 U 8,353,827 U

Jerry Walton 140,000  2,405,277  50,000 E 907,480 E
   172,000 U  2,087,280 U

Paul Bergant 201,340  3,587,163  18,000 E 296,320 E
   168,000 U 2,006,520 U

Craig Harper 129,176  2,060,988  0 E 0 E
   318,508 U 4,604,983 U

The above table refl ects options only. The Company issued no restricted shares until October 27, 2005. 
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(1)  The shares shown in the table above for Mr. Thompson represent the total shares exercised. Mr. Thompson entered into a cashless 
transaction tendering 165,788 of shares previously owned for at least six months to pay for option costs and taxes. The actual number 
of net new shares acquired from this transaction was 149,856. In a cashless transaction, shares held by an individual for more than 
six months (mature shares) are tendered to the Company to pay the option price and tax withholdings. Such a transaction allows an 
individual to increase ownership in Company stock without openly selling shares in the marketplace. Shares tendered to the Company 
are added back to the authorized shares under the Management Incentive Plan approved by the stockholders on April 21, 2005. 

(2)  Numbers reported in the table above are gross earnings, subject to income tax and applicable payroll taxes, and do not refl ect the actual 
net value realized. Values are earned over multiple years. Election to exercise an option in calendar year 2005 should not be interpreted 
to mean that all value was earned in the year the option was exercised. Actual net income realized after taxes for Messrs. Garrison, 
Thompson, Walton, Bergant and Harper was $1,793,989, $2,688,925, $1,288,025, $1,920,925, $1,103,658, respectively. 

(3)  Values are calculated by subtracting the exercise price from the fair market value of the underlying common stock. For purposes of this 
table, fair market value is deemed to be $22.64, which is the closing market price reported by NASDAQ on December 31, 2005. 

CODES OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS
 The Board has adopted codes of business conduct and ethics that apply to all of the Company’s Directors, offi cers and employees. The 
purpose of these codes is to focus our Directors and employees on areas of ethical risk, provide guidance to help them recognize and deal with 
ethical issues, provide mechanisms to report unethical or unlawful conduct, and help enhance and formalize our culture of integrity, honesty 
and accountability. These codes are published in their entirety on the Company’s website at www.jbhunt.com under the caption “Who We 
Are”/“Investor Relations”/“Corporate Governance.” The Company will post on its website any amendment to this code and any waivers of 
any provision of this code made for the benefi t of any of our senior executive offi cers or Directors. 

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
 Johnelle D. Hunt is the wife of founder and former Senior Chairman of the Board J.B. Hunt, and Bryan Hunt is the son of J.B. and 
Johnelle D. Hunt. There are no other family relationships among the foregoing Directors. As an employee of the Company, she received a 
salary of $100,000 for her services as the Company’s corporate secretary. The Company also submitted payment of $10,000 on her behalf for 
professional fees and provided a Company match of $3,000 to her 401(k) account.

 A son-in-law of Mr. Thompson, President and Chief Executive Offi cer of the Company, was employed by the Company in calendar year 
2005 and received in calendar year 2005 compensation that exceeded $60,000. He was employed in calendar year 2000, prior to becoming 
Mr. Thompson’s son-in-law.

 On October 13, 2005, the Company announced a gift of $10 million to the University of Arkansas to facilitate the construction of 
the new J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. Center for Academic Excellence. Mrs. Hunt serves as Treasurer for the University of Arkansas’ 
Campaign for the 21st Century and Dr. John A. White serves as Chancellor of the University of Arkansas. Neither of the aforementioned 
Board members was instrumental in securing the contribution, nor did either participate in the voting processes related to this transaction. 

 The contribution represents an investment by our Company in a growing institution, located only 10 miles from our headquarters, in 
the pursuit of excellence that has not only provided training and skills for many of our current employees, but also allows us to participate 
in the education of the next generation of J.B. Hunt Transport Services team members. The J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. Center 
for Academic Excellence will serve as a focal point and enabling infrastructure for information technology, supply chain management, 
computational science and engineering, and technology-enabled education, research and outreach on the University campus to prepare 
students for the diverse, innovative, collaborative, team-oriented environment prevalent in today’s workspace. The close proximity of the 
University to our Company is invaluable as we jointly identify transportation and technology issues that require the brightest and best minds 
to insure that the American supply chain remains the model for the world.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP
 Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires each Director, offi cer, and any individual benefi cially 
owning more than 10 percent of the Company’s common stock to fi le reports of holdings and transactions in J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. 
with the SEC and NASDAQ within specifi ed time frames. These specifi ed time frames were shortened by the SEC during 2003 and generally 
require the reporting of changes in ownership within two business days of the transaction. To the Company’s knowledge, all required Section 
16(a) fi lings were timely and correctly made during 2005. 

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
 The authorized common stock of the Company consists of 1,000,000,000 shares at $.01 par value. As of the close of business on 
January 31, 2006, there were 153,822,689 shares outstanding held by 1,338 stockholders of record. There are no other classes of capital stock 
of the Company authorized.
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Holdings of Executive Offi cers and Directors

 The following table sets forth the benefi cial ownership of our common stock as of February 28, 2006, by each Director of the Company, 
by each named executive offi cer, by all offi cers and Directors as a group, and by all persons known to be the benefi cial owner of more than 
5 percent of the Company’s common stock. As used in this Proxy Statement, “benefi cially owned” means the sole power to vote or direct 
the voting of a security and the sole power to dispose or direct the disposition of a security.
.
     Percent of
  Shares  Right to Outstanding
Directors and Officers Owned (1) Acquire (2)  Shares (3)
Paul Bergant 529,117 0 *
John A. Cooper, Jr. 61,165 0 *
Wayne Garrison 7,860,677 120,000 5.19
Thomas L. Hardeman 17,378 0 *
Craig Harper 264,533 0  *
Bryan Hunt 223,550 0 *
Johnelle D. Hunt 1,070,081 (4) 0 *
Coleman H. Peterson 5,273 0 *
James L. Robo 17,445 0 *
Kirk Thompson 461,698 0 *
Leland E. Tollett 29,797 0 *
Jerry W. Walton  402,744 (5) 50,000 *
John A. White 31,491 0  *

All executive officers and Directors
  as a group (20 persons) 11,762,941 339,898 7.87

*Less than 1 percent

Other Principal Stockholders
J.B. Hunt, LLC (4) (6)  32,946,510  21.42
807 W. Bowen Boulevard
Fayetteville, Arkansas 72701

Barclay’s Global Investors, N.A. (7) 11,854,348  7.70
45 Fremont Street
San Francisco, California 94105

(1) Includes shares for which the named person:
 •   has sole voting and investment power
 •   has shared voting and investment power with a spouse, or
 •   holds shares in the Company’s 401(k) Employee Retirement Plan, and/or Deferred Compensation Plan, unless otherwise indicated 

in the footnotes
  
Excludes shares that:
 •   are restricted stock holdings
 •   may be acquired through non-vested stock option exercises

(2)  Shares that can be acquired by exercise of stock options exercisable through February 28, 2006. 

(3) Calculated on the basis of 153,822,689 shares of common stock outstanding of the Company as of January 31, 2006. 

(4)  Includes shares owned by Mr. and Mrs. J.B. Hunt in family limited-liability companies in which they are co-managers.

(5)  Includes 132,396 shares held in trusts in which Mr. Walton is designated as the trustee but claims no benefi cial interest.

(6)  As reported on Form 4 reports fi led with the SEC and on fi le as of December 31, 2005. J.B. and Johnelle D. Hunt are co-managers of 
this entity.

(7)  Statistics obtained from NASDAQ Corporate Services Network, Source: FactSet Research Systems, Inc. and Form 13G fi led with 
the SEC.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH
 The following graph presents a fi ve-year comparison of cumulative total returns for the Company, the S&P 500 composite index and 
NASDAQ Trucking Stocks (CRSP Transportation Index). The CRSP Transportation Index was prepared by the Center for Research in 
Security Prices and includes all NASDAQ motor freight and warehousing companies classifi ed under SIC codes 4200-4299. A listing of 
the companies included in the CRSP Transportation Index is available upon request from the Company. The values on the graph show the 
relative performance of an investment of $100 made on December 31, 2000, in Company common stock and in each of the indices.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
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 12/31/00 12/31/01 12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05
J.B. Hunt $100.0 $138.0 $174.3 $321.3 $534.9 $546.4
S&P 500 100.0  88.1  68.6  88.3  97.9 102.7
NASDAQ  100.0 138.1 157.2 203.3 284.9 281.7
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PROPOSAL TWO – 
RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
 On March 29, 2005, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors concluded its proposal process for a new independent accounting 
fi rm. The Audit Committee appointed Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm for the calendar 
year ended December 31, 2005, thereby dismissing KPMG LLP, effective immediately.

 The audit reports of KPMG LLP on the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Company and subsidiaries as of and for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and management’s assessment of internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2004, and the 
effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2004, did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of 
opinion and were not qualifi ed or modifi ed as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.

 During the two most recent calendar years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and from December 31, 2004, through the effective date 
of KPMG LLP’s dismissal, there have been no disagreements between the Company and KPMG LLP on any matters of accounting principles 
or practice, fi nancial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to their satisfaction, would 
have caused KPMG LLP to make reference to the subject matter of such disagreements in connection with its reports. During the period 
described in the preceding sentence, there were no “reportable events” as defi ned in Item 301(a)(1)(iv) or (v) of Regulation S-K of the SEC’s 
rules and regulations.

 During the two calendar years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and from December 31, 2004 through the engagement of Ernst & 
Young LLP as the Company’s independent accountant on March 29, 2005, neither the Company nor anyone on its behalf had consulted 
Ernst & Young LLP with respect to any accounting or auditing issues involving the Company. In particular, there was no discussion with the 
Company regarding the application of accounting principles to a specifi ed transaction, the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on 
the fi nancial statements, or any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement with KPMG LLP on accounting principles or practices, 
fi nancial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedures, which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of KPMG LLP, would have caused 
KPMG LLP to make reference to the matter in their reports, or a “reportable event” as defi ned in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) or (v) of Regulation 
S-K of the SEC’s rules and regulations.

 Representatives of Ernst & Young LLP are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting to respond to appropriate questions. The 
auditors will also have the opportunity to make a statement, if they desire to do so.

The Board of Directors Recommends that the Stockholders Vote 
FOR

the Ratifi cation of the Appointment of Ernst & Young LLP 
as the Company’s Independent Auditors for the 2006 Calendar Year 

Audit and Non-Audit Fees
 Effective January 1, 2005, Ernst & Young LLP (E&Y) became the Company’s independent auditors, replacing KPMG LLP (KPMG), 
who had served as the Company’s independent auditors for calendar year 2004. The following table represents aggregate fees billed for 
professional audit services rendered by each independent accounting fi rm to provide the audit of the Company’s annual fi nancial statements 
for the years ended December 31, 2005, and December 31, 2004, respectively.

 2005 – E&Y 2004 – KPMG
Audit fees (1) $1,000,700 $1,012,440
Audit-related fees (2)        0     27,828
Tax fees (3)    26,320    346,792
All other fees (4) –  –

(1)  Audit fees consisted of audit work performed in the audit of fi nancial statements.
(2)  Audit-related fees consisted principally of audits of employee benefi t plans and special procedures related to regulatory fi lings.
(3)  Tax fees consisted principally of assistance with tax compliance and reporting.
(4)  Ernst & Young LLP did not bill the Company for any non-audit services in calendar years 2005.

KPMG LLP did not bill the Company for any non-audit services in calendar year 2004.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditor
 The Audit Committee has the responsibility of appointing, setting compensation for and overseeing the work of the independent 
auditor, and has established a policy to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent auditor.
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 Prior to engagement of the independent auditor for next year’s audit, management will submit an aggregate of services expected to be 
rendered during that year for each of four categories of services to the Audit Committee for approval.

(1)  Audit services include audit work performed in the audit of fi nancial statements, as well as work that generally only the independent 
auditor can reasonably be expected to provide, including comfort letters, statutory audits, and attest services, and consultation regarding 
fi nancial accounting and/or reporting standards.

(2)  Audit-related services are for assurance and related services that are traditionally performed by the independent auditor, including due 
diligence related to mergers and acquisitions, employee benefi t plan audits, and special procedures required to meet certain regulatory 
requirements.

(3)  Tax services include all services performed by the independent auditor’s tax personnel except those services specifi cally related to the 
audit of the fi nancial statements, and includes fees in the areas of tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice.

(4)  Other fees are those associated with services not captured in the other categories. The Company generally doesn’t request such services 
from the independent auditor.

 Prior to the engagement, the Audit Committee pre-approves these services by category of service. The fees are budgeted and the 
Audit Committee requires the independent auditor and management to report actual fees versus the budget periodically throughout the 
year by category of service. During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage the independent auditor for 
additional services not contemplated in the original pre-approval. In those instances, the Audit Committee requires specifi c pre-approval 
before engaging the independent auditor.

 The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members. The members to whom such authority is 
delegated must report, for informational purposes only, the pre-approval decisions to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

Expenses Related to Sarbanes-Oxley Compliance
 The Company remains proactive in its approach to implementing and adhering to the regulations imposed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002. As such, the Company incurred a substantial amount of additional expense due to the increase in legal, accounting, insurance, and 
Board and Committee fees. Since calendar year 2003, the Company incurred $4.0 million in additional expense. It is anticipated that at 
least $1.5 million of these expenses will continue to recur each year.

SUBMISSION OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS
 In order for a proposal by a stockholder to be presented at an Annual Meeting of the Company’s stockholders, the proposal must be 
included in the related Proxy Statement and proxy form. For a stockholder proposal to be included in the Proxy Statement and proxy 
form for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2007, the proposal must: 1) be received by the Company at its home offi ce, 615 J.B. Hunt 
Corporate Drive, Lowell, Arkansas 72745, Attention: Johnelle D. Hunt, Secretary, on or before November 6, 2006; and 2) concern a matter 
that may be properly considered and acted upon at the Annual Meeting in accordance with applicable laws, including the Company’s Bylaws 
and Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Act.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
 The Company fi les reports, Proxy Statements, and other information with the SEC. You can read and copy these reports, Proxy 
Statements, and other information concerning the Company at the SEC’s public reference room at 450 Fifth Street N.W., Washington, 
D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. The SEC maintains an Internet 
site at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that fi le electronically 
with the SEC, including the Company. 

STOCKHOLDERS WHO DO NOT EXPECT TO ATTEND THE MEETING ARE URGED 
TO VOTE BY TELEPHONE, MAIL OR INTERNET. 

 IF YOU VOTE BY TELEPHONE OR THE INTERNET, 
DO NOT RETURN YOUR PROXY CARD

 By Order of the Board of Directors
 JOHNELLE D. HUNT
 Secretary
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APPENDIX A

J.B. HUNT TRANSPORT SERVICES, INC.
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

As amended January 28, 2003

I.  PURPOSE AND ROLE
 The primary function of the Committee (the “Committee”) is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfi lling its oversight responsibilities 
by reviewing with its auditors: (a) the fi nancial reports and other fi nancial information provided by J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. (the 
“Company”) to any governmental body or the public; (b) the Company’s systems of internal controls regarding fi nance and accounting that 
management and the Board have established; and (c) the Company’s auditing, accounting and fi nancial reporting processes generally.

 All of the requirements in this Charter are qualifi ed by the understanding that the role of the Committee is to act in an oversight 
capacity and is not intended to require a detailed review of the work performed by the independent auditors unless specifi c circumstances 
are brought to its attention warranting such a review.

 The Committee has the authority to conduct any investigation appropriate to fulfi lling its responsibilities, and it has direct access to 
the independent auditors as well as anyone in the organization. The Committee has the ability to retain, at the Company’s expense, specifi c 
advisers, consultants or experts it deems necessary in the performance of its duties.

II.  COMPOSITION
 The Committee shall be comprised of three or more directors as determined by the Board. All members of the Committee must (a) be 
free of any relationship to the Company that may interfere with the exercise of their independence from management and the Company, 
and (b) not be subject to any of the other restrictions on independence set forth in rules or regulations prescribed by NASDAQ, SEC or the 
Public Accounting Oversight Board.

 All members of the Committee shall possess a basic understanding of fi nancial statements, including a company’s balance sheet, income 
statement and cash fl ow statement or be able to do so within a reasonable period of time after their appointment to the Committee. At least 
one member of the Committee shall have accounting or related fi nancial management expertise, as the Board, in its business judgment, 
interprets such qualifi cation.

 The members of the Committee shall be elected by the Board at the annual or any regular meeting of the Board. The members of the 
Committee shall serve until their successors shall be duly elected and qualifi ed or their earlier resignation or removal. If a Chair is not elected 
by the full Board or is not present at a particular meeting, the members of the Committee may designate a Chair by majority vote of the 
Committee membership in attendance.

III.  MEETINGS
 The Committee shall meet at least four times annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate. The Committee should meet at 
least annually with management, the independent auditors and as a Committee, in separate executive sessions, to discuss any matters that the 
Committee or each of these groups believe should be discussed privately. In addition, the Committee, or at least the Chair, should meet with 
the independent auditors and fi nancial management quarterly, either in person or telephonically, to review the Company’s interim fi nancial 
statement consistent with Section IV.3 below. The Committee Chair shall prepare and/or approve the agenda in advance of each meeting.
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IV.  RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES
 To fulfi ll its responsibilities and duties, the Committee shall perform the following:

Documents/Reports Review
 1.  The Committee has adopted this Charter following its approval by the Board of Directors based upon the recommendation of the 

Committee. The Committee shall review, and reassess the adequacy of, this Charter at least annually. The Charter shall be included as 
an appendix to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders at least once every three years.

 2.  Review and discuss with management and the independent auditors the Company’s annual audited fi nancial statements prior to fi ling 
or distribution. This review and discussion should encompass the results of the audit, including signifi cant issues regarding accounting 
principles, practices and judgments.

 3.  Review with fi nancial management the quarterly fi nancial results prior to the earlier of the release of earnings or the fi ling of the 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The Chair of the Committee may represent the entire Committee for purposes of this review. In 
connection with such review, the Committee should ensure that the communications and discussions with the independent auditors 
contemplated by Statement of Auditing Standards No. 71 have been received and held.

Independent Accountants
 4.  Recommend to the Board of Directors the selection of independent auditors, considering independence and effectiveness, and approve 

the fees and other compensation to be paid to the independent accountants.

 5.  Make clear that the independent auditors for the Company are ultimately accountable to the Committee and the Board of Directors, 
and that the Committee and Board of Directors have the ultimate authority and responsibility to select, evaluate and, where 
appropriate, replace the independent accountants or to nominate the independent auditor to be proposed for stockholder approval in 
any proxy statement.

 6.  Require the independent auditors to submit on a periodic basis (but at least annually) to the Committee a formal written statement in 
accordance with Independence Standards delineating all relationships between them and the Company, actively engage in a dialogue 
with them with respect to any disclosed relationships or services that may impact their objectivity and independence, and recommend 
that the Board of Directors take appropriate action in response to the report of the independent auditors to satisfy itself of the outside 
auditors’ independence.

 7.  Review the performance of the independent auditors and approve any proposed discharge of the independent auditors when 
circumstances warrant.

 8.  Discuss with the independent auditors their audit plan.

 9.  Review and approve in advance all non-audit services performed by the auditing fi rm.

Financial Reporting Processes
10.  In consultation with management and the independent auditors, consider the integrity of the Company’s fi nancial reporting processes 

and controls. Discuss signifi cant fi nancial risk reporting exposures, including off-balance-sheet arrangements and/or special-purpose 
entities and the steps management has taken to monitor, control and report such exposures. Review signifi cant fi ndings prepared by the 
independent auditors together with management’s response.

11.  Prior to releasing the year-end earnings, discuss the results of the audit with the independent auditors.

12.  Discuss with the independent auditors the matters contemplated by Statement of Auditing Standards No. 61, including, without 
limitation, the independent accountant’s judgments about the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company’s accounting principles 
as applied in its fi nancial reporting.

13.  Based on the review and discussions referred to previously, recommend to the Board of Directors that the audited fi nancial statements 
be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

14.  Prepare a report of the Committee to be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Other
15.  Nothing in this Charter will, or will be deemed to, decrease or modify in any manner adverse to any member of the Committee, such 

member’s right to rely on statements and certifi cations made by the Company’s offi cers, employees, agents, counsel, experts and auditors.

16.  Nothing in this charter will, or will be deemed to, adversely affect in any manner the rights of members of the Committee to 
indemnifi cation and advancement of expenses under the Certifi cate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Company or under any contract, 
agreement, arrangement or understanding benefi ting such member.

17.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, no provision of this Charter will, except to the extent required by applicable law, 
rule or regulation, be construed to create any duty, liability or obligation on the part of the Committee or its members.

 The Committee relies on the expertise and knowledge of management, the internal auditors and the public accounting fi rm in carrying 
out its oversight responsibilities. Management of the Company is responsible for determining that the Company’s fi nancial statements are 
complete, accurate and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The public accounting fi rm is responsible for auditing 
the Company’s fi nancial statements. It is not the duty of the Committee to plan or conduct audits, to determine that the fi nancial statements 
are complete, accurate and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, to conduct investigations, or to assure compliance 
with laws and regulations of the Company’s internal policies, procedures or controls.

V.  PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS
 The Committee shall conduct a self-evaluation of its performance annually and evaluate whether this Charter appropriately addresses 
the matters that are or should be within its scope.

 In conducting its self-evaluation, the Committee shall address all matters that it considers relevant to its performance, including, but 
not limited to, the following:

 1.  The adequacy, appropriateness and quality of the information and recommendations presented to the Committee by management, and 
by the Committee to the Board.

 2.  The manner in which such information and recommendations were discussed or debated.
 3.  Whether the number and length of meetings of the Committee were adequate for the Committee to complete its work in a thorough 

and thoughtful manner.

 The Committee shall report to the Board the results of any self-evaluation, including any recommended amendments to this Charter 
and any recommended changes to the Company’s or the Board’s corporate governance policies and procedures.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 This report, including documents which are incorporated by reference, and other documents which we fi le periodically with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC), contains statements that may be considered to be “forward-looking statements.” Such statements relate to 
our predictions concerning future events or operations and are within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain, subject to risks, and should be viewed with 
caution. These statements are based on our belief or interpretation of information currently available. Stockholders and prospective investors are 
cautioned that actual results and future events may differ materially from the forward-looking statements as a result of many factors. Some of the 
factors and events that are not within our control and that could have a material impact on future operating results include: general economic and 
business conditions, competition and competitive rate fl uctuations, cost and availability of diesel fuel, ability to attract and retain qualifi ed drivers, 
a loss of one or more major customers, interference with or termination of our relationships with certain railroads, insurance costs and availability, 
claims expense, retention of key employees, terrorist attacks or actions, acts of war, adverse weather conditions, new or different environmental 
or other laws and regulations, increased costs for new revenue equipment or decreases in the value of used equipment and the ability of revenue 
equipment manufacturers to perform in accordance with agreements for guaranteed equipment trade-in values. Current and future changes in fuel 
prices could result in signifi cant fl uctuations of quarterly earnings.

 You should understand that many important factors, in addition to those listed above, could impact us fi nancially. Our operating results may 
fl uctuate as a result of these and other risk factors or events as described in our fi lings with the SEC. Some important factors that could cause our 
actual results to differ from estimates or projections contained in the forward-looking statements are described under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A. We 
assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to the extent we become aware that it will not be achieved for any reason.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

OVERVIEW
  We are one of the largest surface transportation companies in North America. J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. (JBHT) is a publicly held 
holding company that, together with our wholly owned subsidiaries and associated companies, provides a wide range of transportation services to a 
diverse group of customers throughout the continental United States, Canada and Mexico. We were incorporated in Arkansas on August 10, 1961, 
and have been a publicly held company since our initial public offering in 1983. Our service offerings include transportation of full truckload 
containerizable freight, which we directly transport utilizing our company-controlled revenue equipment and company drivers or independent 
contractors. This full truckload freight may be transported entirely by truck over roads and highways, or may be moved, in part, by rail. We have 
arrangements with most of the major North American rail carriers to transport truckload freight in containers and trailers. We also provide 
customized freight movement, revenue equipment, labor and systems services that are tailored to meet individual customers’ requirements and 
typically involve long-term contracts. These arrangements are known as dedicated services and may include multiple pickups and drops, home 
deliveries, freight handling, specialized equipment and network design. We also have a 37% ownership interest in a global transportation logistics 
company, Transplace, Inc. (TPI). TPI is co-owned by fi ve large transportation companies and provides supplemental sales, management and freight 
movement services through arrangements with a large number of common carriers.

 Our business operations are primarily organized through three distinct, but complementary, business segments. These segments include full 
truckload dry-van (JBT), intermodal (JBI) and dedicated contract services (DCS). In addition, we operated a logistics business segment from 1992 
until mid-2000. In 2000, we, along with a number of other publicly held transportation companies, contributed our existing logistics business 
to a new, commonly owned company, Transplace, Inc. (TPI). Our business is somewhat seasonal with slightly higher freight volumes typically 
experienced during the months of August through early November. Our DCS segment is subject to less seasonal variation than our JBT and JBI 
segments. For the calendar year ended December 31, 2005, our consolidated revenue totaled $3.13 billion, after the elimination of inter-segment 
business. Of the total, $1.28 billion, or 41%, was generated by our JBI business segment. Our JBT segment generated $1.02 billion, or 32%, of total 
revenue and DCS represented $844 million, or 27%.

 Additional general information about us is available from our Internet website at www.jbhunt.com. We make a number of reports and other 
information available free of charge on our website, including our annual report on Form 10-K, our proxy statement and our earnings releases. Our 
website also contains corporate governance guidelines, our code of ethics, our whistleblower policy, committee charters for our Board of Directors 
and other corporate policies.

OUR MISSION AND STRATEGY
 We forge long-term partnerships with key customers that include supply-chain management as an integral part of their strategy. Working in 
concert, we drive out cost, add value and function as an extension of our customers’ enterprise. We believe that our operating strategy can add value 
to customers and increase our profi ts and returns to stockholders.

RECENT FOCUS
 During the past fi ve years, we have taken signifi cant steps to re-establish a primary focus on the profi tability of our three business segments. In 
each segment we have implemented capacity management decisionmaking processes that result in the deployment of our assets where we believe 
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they will generate more profi t. We continually focus on replacing less-profi table freight with higher-margin freight and lanes. Selective pricing 
actions and ensuring that we properly charge for all services provided have also been areas of major focus. We have also worked to ingrain safety 
into our corporate culture, which has reduced our accident and injury costs during the past several years.

OPERATING SEGMENTS
 Segment information is included in Note 11 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

JBT SEGMENT
 Our primary transportation service offerings classifi ed in this segment include full truckload, dry-van freight, which is predominantly transported 
utilizing company-controlled tractors operating over roads and highways. We pick up our freight at the dock or specifi ed location of the shipper and 
transport the load directly to the location of the consignee. Most of our loads are transported entirely by our company-owned tractors and employee 
drivers, or by independent contractors (ICs) who agree to transport freight in our trailers. We also assign freight to be handled by third-party motor 
carriers other than ICs. This type of freight movement typically results in our billing the customer for all applicable freight charges and, in turn, 
paying the third party for their portion of the transportation services provided. This type of service usually results in our recognition of revenue for 
the entire billing and the payment to the third-party being classifi ed as purchased transportation expense.

 We operate utilizing certain Canadian authorities, allowing us to transport freight to and from all points in the continental United States to 
Quebec, British Columbia and Ontario. We have authorization to operate directly in all the Canadian provinces, but to date we have served limited 
points in Canada, primarily through interchange operations with Canadian motor carriers. In late 2000, we began utilizing ICs in the JBT segment 
and at December 31, 2005, we had 1,142 ICs operating in the JBT segment. JBT revenue for calendar year 2005 was $1.02 billion, compared with 
$928 million in 2004. At December 31, 2005, the JBT segment operated 4,368 company-controlled tractors and employed 5,882 people, 4,895 
of whom were drivers. A portion of our JBT segment non-driver employees provide freight solicitation, order entry and other operational support 
services to our other two segments. We record inter-segment credits and charges to properly refl ect these inter-segment support services.

JBI SEGMENT
 The transportation service offerings of our JBI segment utilize arrangements with most major North American rail carriers to provide 
intermodal freight solutions for our customers throughout the continental United States, Canada and Mexico. Our JBI segment began operations 
in 1989 with a unique partnership with the former Santa Fe Railway (now the BNSF Railway Company), a watershed event in the industry 
and the fi rst agreement that linked major rail and truckload carriers in a joint marketing environment. Essentially, JBI draws on the intermodal 
(also known as “container on fl atcar”) services of rail carriers for the underlying linehaul movement of its equipment and performs the pickups 
and deliveries (“drayage”) for customers at the origin and destination rail terminal locations. We may directly provide the drayage service 
at either the origin or destination rail ramp utilizing our company-controlled tractors, or we may purchase these services from third parties. 
JBI provides seamless coordination of the rail and over-the-road transport movements for our customers and delivers a single billing for the complete 
door-to-door service.

 Our intermodal program has grown from 20 loads in late 1989 to nearly 600,000 in 2005. JBI operates 23,755 company-controlled containers 
systemwide. The entire fl eet is comprised of 53-foot, high-cube containers and is designed to take advantage of intermodal double-stack economics 
and superior ride quality. JBI also manages a fl eet of 1,341 company-owned tractors and 1,719 company drivers in support of intermodal operations. 
We also began utilizing ICs in our intermodal segment during 2005. We had 16 ICs operating in our JBI segment at December 31, 2005. At 
December 31, 2005, the total JBI employee count was 1,951, including the 1,719 drivers. Revenue for the JBI segment in calendar year 2005 was 
$1.28 billion, compared with $1.12 billion in 2004. As previously announced, an arbitration process with the BNSF Railway Company (BNI) 
was concluded during the third quarter of 2005. In accordance with the settlement terms, we paid BNI $25.8 million in the third quarter of 2005. 
Normal commercial business activity continued between the parties during the approximate 15-month arbitration process, and normal business 
operations have continued since the fi nal settlement.

DCS SEGMENT
 Since 1992, we have offered dedicated contract carriage as a service option. DCS segment operations specialize in the design, development 
and execution of customer-specifi c fl eet solutions. Capitalizing on advanced systems and technologies, DCS offers transportation engineering 
solutions that support private fl eet conversion, dedicated fl eet creation and transportation system augmentation. DCS operations typically provide 
customized services that are governed by long-term contracts and currently include dry-van, fl atbed, temperature-controlled, dump trailers and local 
inner-city operations.

 DCS operations focus on delivering recognizable customer value through best-in-class service, cost control and guaranteed dedicated capacity. 
DCS utilizes a proprietary methodology known as Customer Value Delivery™ (CVD) to create, measure and communicate value created for each 
customer. DCS leverages the JBHT freight network to reposition equipment near outbound domiciles, thereby reducing ineffi cient empty miles 
and system cost. DCS also frequently fi nds synergy in shared resources with the JBT and JBI segments, including terminals, drivers, maintenance 
shops, bulk fuel locations and trailer pools providing further economies of scale. DCS revenue for calendar year 2005 was $844 million, compared 
with $760 million in 2004. In early 2004, we began utilizing ICs in the DCS segment and at December 31, 2005, we had 152 ICs operating in 
the DCS segment. At December 31, 2005, the DCS segment operated 4,771 company-controlled and 87 customer-owned tractors, and employed 
5,834 people, 5,144 of whom were drivers.
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LOGISTICS BUSINESS AND ASSOCIATED COMPANY
 We offi cially began offering transportation logistics services in 1992 through a wholly owned subsidiary, J.B. Hunt Logistics, Inc. (JBL). JBL 
services frequently included an arrangement whereby a shipper might outsource a substantial portion of its entire distribution and transportation 
process to one organization. The JBL segment business included a wide range of comprehensive transportation and management services, including 
experienced professional managers, information and optimization technology, and the actual design or redesign of system solutions. A new logistics 
customer or service arrangement frequently required a signifi cant amount of up-front analysis and design time, during which alternatives were 
considered and custom systems and software were developed. Effective July 1, 2000, we contributed our existing JBL segment business to a newly 
formed company, TPI. TPI provides supplemental logistics sales and management support and also has arrangements with approximately 2,800 
motor carriers to provide capacity to transport freight. Our share of TPI’s fi nancial results are included on a one-line, non-operating item included 
on our Consolidated Statements of Earnings entitled “equity in loss of associated company.”

OPERATIONS IN MEXICO
 We have provided transportation services to and from Mexico since 1989. These services typically involve equipment interchange operations 
with various Mexican motor carriers. As previously reported, we sold a joint venture interest with a Mexican transportation company in 2002. We 
received all remaining funds due in connection with this sale during 2005. This transaction had no signifi cant impact on our earnings. We continue 
to provide transportation services to and from Mexico primarily by utilizing the services of a variety of Mexican carriers.

MARKETING AND OPERATIONS
 We transport, or arrange for the transportation of, a wide range of freight, including forest and paper products, building materials, general 
merchandise, food and beverages, chemicals and automotive parts. Our customer base is extremely diverse and includes a large number of Fortune 
500 companies. Our ability to offer multiple services, utilizing our three business segments and a full complement of logistics services through third 
parties, represents a competitive advantage. We provide a broad range of transportation services to larger shippers that seek to use a limited number 
of “core” carriers. Our largest customer in 2005 was Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., which accounted for approximately 15% of our total revenue.

 We generally market all of our service offerings through a nationwide sales and marketing network. We do have some sales and marketing 
functions managed at the business-unit level, particularly for our DCS segment. In accordance with our typical arrangements, we bill the customer 
for all services and we, in turn, pay all third parties for their portion of transportation services provided. In recent years, we have re-established a 
primary focus on improving the profi tability of each of our business segments and charging a fair price for all services provided.

PEOPLE
 We believe that one of the factors differentiating us from our competitors is our service-oriented people. As of December 31, 2005, we had 
approximately 16,370 employees, including 11,758 company drivers. We also had arrangements with 1,310 ICs to transport freight in our trailing 
equipment. In addition, we employed 1,170 mechanics and 3,439 offi ce personnel at the end of 2005. None of our employees is represented by 
unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements.

 Our industry has periodically had a diffi cult time attracting and retaining enough qualifi ed truck drivers. It is also common for the driver 
turnover rate of individual carriers to exceed 100%. It has been our practice during the past few years to compensate our drivers at an above-average 
level in order to attract a higher caliber of experience and minimize turnover. During 2005, we increased company driver and IC compensation in 
order to attract and retain an adequate supply of qualifi ed drivers. While we have not, to date, experienced signifi cant operational disruptions due 
to driver shortages, we expect the costs to recruit, train and retain company drivers and ICs will continue to rise in the foreseeable future.

REVENUE EQUIPMENT
 As of December 31, 2005, we operated 10,480 company-controlled tractors. In addition, our 1,310 ICs operate their own tractors, but transport 
freight in our trailing equipment. We operate with standardized tractors in as many fl eets as possible, particularly in our JBT and JBI fl eets. Based 
on our customers’ preferences and the actual business application, our DCS fl eet is more diversifi ed. We believe operating with relatively newer 
revenue equipment provides better customer service, attracts quality drivers and lowers maintenance expense. At December 31, 2005, the average 
age of our combined tractor fl eet was 2.2 years, our trailers averaged 5.0 years of age and our containers averaged 6.8 years. We perform routine 
servicing and preventative maintenance of our equipment at most of our regional terminal facilities.

 We typically operate newer revenue equipment in our JBT segment to minimize downtime and maximize utilization. Our JBI segment utilizes 
high-cube containers, which can be separated from the chassis and double-stacked on rail cars. We are currently in the process of expanding our 
container fl eet and reconditioning our chassis fl eet. The composition of our DCS trailing fl eet varies with specifi c customer requirements and may 
include dry-vans, fl atbeds, temperature-controlled, curtain-side vans, and even straight or dump trucks.

 Effective October 1, 2002, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) required that most newly manufactured heavy-duty tractor engines 
comply with certain new emission standards. We initially limited our new tractor purchases while we tested these new 2002 EPA-compliant 
engines. At December 31, 2005, we were operating approximately 5,900 tractors with these 2002 rule-compliant engines. These engines experience 
an approximate 4% to 5% lower fuel effi ciency and are also expected to require higher annual maintenance costs.

 Effective with model-year 2007 tractors, the EPA has mandated even lower emission standards for newly manufactured heavy-duty tractor 
engines. We once again are planning our new equipment purchases to accommodate these new standards, but allow adequate testing of the new 
engines. The 2007 EPA-compliant engines will be equipped with a particulate trap and will require more costly ultra-low-sulfur diesel (ULSD) fuel. 
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The EPA estimates that ULSD fuel will cost approximately $.04 to $.05 more per gallon. We are unable at this time to determine the increase in 
acquisition and operating costs of these new 2007 EPA-compliant engines.

COMPETITION AND THE INDUSTRY
 According to the most recently available study conducted by the American Trucking Associations (ATA), all modes of domestic freight 
carriers in the United States generated approximately $610 billion of revenue in 2003. Of this total, truck transportation represented about 87%, 
or $531 billion. ATA also estimated that approximately 54% of the nation’s 2003 truck revenue related to for-hire carriers, while 46% related to 
private carriers. As of July 2004, there were more than 573,000 private, for-hire, U.S. Mail and other U.S. interstate motor carriers on fi le with 
the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA). The top 10 for-hire truckload carriers only generate about 3% of the total revenue in 
this segment, and we represent approximately 1% of this segment’s revenue. The market in which we compete is frequently referred to as highly 
fragmented and includes thousands of carriers, many of which are very small. While we compete with a number of smaller carriers on a regional 
basis, only a limited number of companies represent competition in all markets across the country. We compete with other freight transportation 
carriers primarily in terms of on-time pickup and delivery service, availability of drivers, and revenue equipment and price.

REGULATION
 Our operations as a for-hire motor carrier are subject to regulation by the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) and the Federal Motor 
Carrier Safety Administration, and certain business is also subject to state rules and regulations. The DOT periodically conducts reviews and audits 
to ensure our compliance with all federal safety requirements, and we report certain accident and other information to the DOT. Our operations 
into and out of Canada and Mexico are also subject to regulation by those countries.

 Effective October 1, 2005, driver hours-of-service (HOS) regulations were revised. The majority of these rule changes had initially been 
effective January 4, 2004. These collective changes were the most signifi cant changes to driver HOS in more than 40 years. In general, the new 
rules require a driver to take at least eight consecutive hours in the sleeper berth during a ten-hour off-duty period. These new rules primarily affect 
short-haul and multiple-stop freight operations and had a minor negative impact on our overall operations and fi nancial results.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
 In addition to the forward-looking statements outlined previously in this Form 10-K and other comments regarding risks and uncertainties, 
the following risk factors should be carefully considered when evaluating our business. Our business, fi nancial condition or fi nancial results could be 
materially and adversely affected by any of these risks. Also note that additional risks not currently identifi ed or known to us could also negatively 
impact our business or fi nancial results.

Our business is subject to general economic and business factors that are largely out of our control, any of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations.
 Our business is dependent upon a number of factors that may have a material adverse effect on the results of our operations, many of which are 
beyond our control. These factors include signifi cant increases or rapid fl uctuations in fuel prices, excess capacity in the trucking industry, surpluses 
in the market for used equipment, interest rates, fuel taxes, license and registration fees, insurance premiums, self-insurance levels, and diffi culty in 
attracting and retaining qualifi ed drivers and independent contractors.

 We are also affected by recessionary economic cycles and downturns in customers’ business cycles, particularly in market segments and 
industries such as retail and manufacturing, where we have a signifi cant concentration of customers. Economic conditions represent a greater 
potential for loss, and we may be required to increase our reserve for bad-debt losses. In addition, our results of operations may be affected by seasonal 
factors. Customers tend to reduce shipments after the winter holiday season, and our operating expenses tend to be higher in the winter months 
primarily due to colder weather, which causes higher fuel consumption from increased idle time and higher maintenance costs.

We operate in a competitive and somewhat fragmented industry. Numerous factors could impair our ability to maintain our current 
profi tability and to compete with other carriers and private fl eets.
 Some of these factors include:

• We compete with many other truckload carriers of varying sizes and, to a lesser extent, with less-than-truckload carriers and railroads, 
some of which have more equipment and greater capital resources than we do.

• Some of our competitors periodically reduce their freight rates to gain business, especially during times of reduced growth rates in 
the economy, which may limit our ability to maintain or increase freight rates or maintain our profi t margins.

• Many customers reduce the number of carriers they use by selecting so-called “core carriers” as approved transportation service 
providers, and in some instances we may not be selected.

• Many customers periodically accept bids from multiple carriers for their shipping needs, and this process may depress freight rates or 
result in the loss of some business to competitors.

• Certain of our customers that operate private fl eets to transport their own freight could decide to expand their operations.
• The trend toward consolidation in the trucking industry may create other large carriers with greater fi nancial resources and other 

competitive advantages relating to their size.
• Advances in technology require increased investments to remain competitive, and our customers may not be willing to accept 

higher freight rates to cover the cost of these investments.
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We derive a signifi cant portion of our revenue from a few major customers, the loss of one or more of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business.
 For the calendar year ended December 31, 2005, our top 10 customers, based on revenue, accounted for approximately 40% of our revenue. 
Our largest customer is Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., which accounted for approximately 15% of our total revenue in 2005. Our JBT and JBI segments 
typically do not have long-term contracts with their customers. While our DCS segment business may involve a written contract, those contracts 
may contain cancellation clauses, and there is no assurance that our current customers will continue to utilize our services or that they will continue 
at the same levels. A reduction in or termination of our services by one or more of our major customers could have a material adverse effect on our 
business and operating results.

We depend on third parties in the operation of our business.
 Our Intermodal business segment utilizes railroads in the performance of its transportation services. These services are provided pursuant to 
contractual relationships with the railroads. While we have agreements with various Class I railroads, the majority of our business travels on the 
Burlington Northern Santa Fe and the Norfolk Southern Railroad. The inability to utilize one or more of these railroads could have a material 
adverse effect on our business and operating results. We also utilize the services of a number of third-party dray carriers to perform a signifi cant 
number of our origin and destination pickups and deliveries. In addition, a portion of the freight we deliver is imported to the United States through 
ports of call that are subject to labor union contracts.

Diffi culty in attracting and retaining drivers could affect our profi tability and ability to grow.
 Periodically, the trucking industry experiences substantial diffi culty in attracting and retaining qualifi ed drivers, including ICs. A shortage 
of qualifi ed company drivers and ICs has proven to be particularly severe during the past few years. In spite of continued increases in driver 
compensation and recruiting costs, the industry is currently experiencing a signifi cant shortage of drivers. If we are unable to continue attracting an 
adequate number of drivers or contract with enough independent contractors, we could be required to signifi cantly increase our driver compensation 
package or let trucks sit idle, which could adversely affect our growth and profi tability.

Ongoing insurance and claims expenses could signifi cantly reduce our earnings.
 Our future insurance and claims expenses might exceed historical levels, which could reduce our earnings. During 2005, we self-insured a 
portion of our claims exposure resulting from cargo loss, personal injury, property damage and health claims for amounts up to the fi rst $2 million 
for auto accidents and $1 million for workers’ compensation. Effective January 1, 2006, the self-insured portion of our claims exposure for personal 
injury and workers’ compensation was reduced to $500,000. If the number or severity of claims for which we are self-insured increases, our operating 
results could be adversely affected. Also, we maintain insurance above the amounts for which we self-insure with licensed insurance companies. 
Insurance carriers have recently raised premiums for most trucking companies. As a result, our insurance and claims expenses could increase when 
some of our current coverages expire on July 31, 2006. If these expenses increase, and we are unable to offset the increase with higher freight rates, 
our earnings could be materially and adversely affected.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has proposed to disallow the tax benefi ts associated with certain sale-and-leaseback transactions.
 As previously disclosed, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has proposed to disallow the tax benefi ts associated with certain sale-and-leaseback 
transactions, which we entered into in 1999. Based on events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2004, we established a reserve for a contingent 
tax liability of $33.6 million at December 31, 2004. The liability for this contingency, which included estimated interest expense, was included on 
our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2004, as a long-term liability. We accrued approximately $2.7 million of interest expense during 
2005 related to this contingency. We continue to believe our tax positions comply with applicable tax law for which we received advice and 
opinions from our then external public accountants and attorneys prior to entering into these transactions, and we continue to vigorously defend 
against the IRS position using all administrative and legal processes available. If the IRS were successful in disallowing 100% of the tax benefi t from 
this transaction, the total ultimate impact on liquidity could be approximately $44 million, excluding interest.

Our operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations, the violation of which could result in substantial fi nes 
or penalties.
 We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations dealing with the handling of hazardous materials, underground fuel storage 
tanks, and discharge and retention of storm water. We operate in industrial areas, where truck terminals and other industrial activities are located, 
and where groundwater or other forms of environmental contamination have occurred. Our operations involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage, 
environmental damage and hazardous wastes disposal, among others. We also maintain bulk fuel storage and fuel islands at several of our facilities. 
If we are involved in a spill or other accident involving hazardous substances, or if we are found to be in violation of applicable laws or regulations, 
it could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results. If we should fail to comply with applicable environmental regulations, 
we could be subject to substantial fi nes or penalties and to civil and criminal liability.

We operate in a regulated industry, and increased direct and indirect costs of compliance with, or liability for violation of, existing or 
future regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business.
 The DOT and various state agencies exercise broad powers over our business, generally governing matters including authorization to engage 
in motor carrier service, equipment operation, safety and fi nancial reporting. We are audited periodically by the DOT to ensure that we are in 
compliance with various safety, hours-of-service, and other rules and regulations. If we were found to be out of compliance, the DOT could restrict 
or otherwise impact our operations.
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 Effective October 1, 2005, driver  HOS regulations were revised. The majority of these rule changes had initially been effective January 4, 2004. 
These collective changes were the most signifi cant changes to driver HOS in more than 40 years. In general, the new rules require a driver to take 
at least eight consecutive hours in the sleeper berth during a 10-hour off-duty period. These new rules primarily affect short-haul and multiple-stop 
freight operations and had a minor negative impact on our overall operations and fi nancial results.

 Effective October 1, 2002, the EPA required that most newly manufactured heavy-duty tractor engines comply with certain new emission 
standards. At December 31, 2005, we were operating approximately 5,900 tractors with these 2002 rule-complaint engines. In addition to higher 
initial purchase prices, these tractors have also experienced an average 4% to 5% reduction in fuel effi ciency. Effective with model-year 2007 
tractors, the EPA has mandated even lower emission standards for newly manufactured heavy-duty tractor engines. We are planning our new 
equipment purchases to accommodate these new standards, but also to allow adequate time for testing of the new engines. We are unable to predict 
the impact these new standards will have on our future operations and business results.

Rapid changes in fuel costs could impact our periodic fi nancial results.
 Fuel and fuel taxes currently represent our third-largest general expense category. During the past several years, fuel cost per gallon has varied 
signifi cantly, with prices at times changing as much as $.20 to $.25 per gallon between consecutive months. We have a fuel surcharge revenue 
program in place with the majority of our customers, which has historically enabled us to recover the majority of higher fuel costs. Most of these 
programs automatically adjust weekly depending on the cost of fuel. However, there can be timing differences between a change in our fuel cost and 
the timing of the fuel surcharges billed to our customers. In addition, we incur additional costs when fuel prices rise that cannot be fully recovered 
due to our engines being idled during cold or warm weather and empty or out-of-route miles that cannot be billed to customers. Rapid increases 
in fuel costs or shortages of fuel could have a material adverse effect on our operations or future profi tability. As of December 31, 2005, we had no 
derivative fi nancial instruments to reduce our exposure to fuel price fl uctuations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
 None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
 Our corporate headquarters are in Lowell, Arkansas. We occupy a number of buildings in Lowell that we utilize for administrative support, 
data center, primary customer service and freight dispatch. We maintain a backup data center for disaster recovery, maintenance shop and driver 
operations facility in Lowell. In December 2005, we took occupancy of a new, approximately 110,000-square-foot offi ce building that was constructed 
adjacent to our existing 150,000-square-foot building. This new building allowed us to reduce the number of occupied buildings in Lowell and 
consolidate most of our corporate support and centralized operations functions. We also own or lease other signifi cant facilities where we perform 
maintenance on our equipment, provide bulk fuel and employ personnel to support operations. Each of our three business segments utilizes our 
larger facilities for services including bulk fueling, maintenance and driver support activities. In addition to our principal properties listed below, we 
lease a number of small offi ces and parking yards throughout the country that support our customers’ business needs.

A summary of our principal facilities follows:
  Maintenance Shop Offi ce Space
Location Acreage (square feet) (square feet)
Atlanta, Georgia 28 29,800 10,400
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 12 28,500 4,500
Chicago, Illinois 27 50,000 14,000
Columbus, Ohio 10 28,100 8,500
Dallas, Texas  14 24,000 7,800
East Brunswick, New Jersey 19  20,000 3,200
Houston, Texas 21 24,700 7,200
Kansas City, Missouri 10 31,000 6,700
Louisville, Kentucky 14 40,000 10,000
Little Rock, Arkansas 24 29,200 7,200
Lowell, Arkansas (corporate headquarters) 59 – 261,000
Lowell, Arkansas 42 50,200 14,000
Lowell, Arkansas (offi ce and data center) 2 – 20,000
Memphis, Tennessee 10 26,700 8,000
Phoenix, Arizona 15 15,200 5,300
Portland, Oregon 8 20,000 3,300
San Bernardino, California 9 18,300 9,300
South Gate, California 12 25,000 5,500
St. Louis, Missouri 7 18,600 1,500
Syracuse, New York 13 19,000 8,000
Tifton, Georgia 10 21,300 –
Wayne, Michigan 23 11,800 8,800
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 We are involved in certain claims and pending litigation arising from the normal conduct of business. Based on the present knowledge of the 
facts and, in certain cases, opinions of outside counsel, we believe the resolution of claims and pending litigation will not have a material adverse 
effect on our fi nancial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

 As previously reported, an arbitration process with BNI was concluded during September 2005. In accordance with the settlement terms, we 
paid BNI $25.8 million. This payment was recorded in the third quarter of 2005. We also increased, effective October 1, 2005, the amounts that 
we pay BNI for moving freight on certain intermodal movements.

 The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has proposed to disallow the tax benefi ts associated with certain sale-and-leaseback transactions. See 
“Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 No matters were submitted during the fourth quarter of 2005 to a vote of security holders.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED SECURITY 
HOLDER MATTERS
 Our common stock is traded in the over-the-counter market under the symbol “JBHT.” At December 31, 2005, we were authorized to issue up 
to one billion shares of our common stock and 167.1 million shares were issued. The high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported by 
the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations National Market system (NASDAQ) and our quarterly dividends paid per 
share on our common shares were:

Period Dividends Paid High Low
2005
  First Quarter $ .060 $ 25.03 $ 20.33
  Second Quarter .060 22.41 18.18
  Third Quarter .060 21.11 17.38
  Fourth Quarter .060 24.00 18.24

2004
  First Quarter $    – $ 14.73 $ 12.65
  Second Quarter .015 19.49 14.06
  Third Quarter .015 19.83 15.88
  Fourth Quarter .015 22.65 17.92

 On January 31, 2006, the high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported by the NASDAQ were $24.10 and $23.46, respectively. 
As of January 31, 2006, we had 1,338 stockholders of record.

 From time to time, our Board of Directors authorizes the repurchase of our common stock. We did not repurchase any of our common stock 
during the years 2002 through 2004. On December 14, 2004, our Board authorized the purchase of up to $100 million worth of our common 
stock. We commenced repurchases of our common stock in January 2005. On April 21, 2005, our Board authorized the purchase of an additional 
$500 million of our common stock over the next fi ve years.

DIVIDEND POLICY
 We paid quarterly dividends during calendar year 1999 and in a number of years prior to 1999. In early 2000, we announced a decision to 
discontinue dividend payments. In April 2004, we re-initiated a quarterly cash dividend of $.015 per share. This re-initiation was based on our 
lower debt levels and improving cash fl ows. We also paid a cash dividend of $.015 per share in July and October 2004. In December 2004, we 
announced an increase in our quarterly cash dividend from $.015 to $.06. Our fi rst $.06 per share dividend was paid on February 18, 2005. We paid 
a $.06 per share dividend in April, July and October 2005. In January 2006, we announced an increase in our quarterly cash dividend from $.06 
to $.08, effective with our payment in February 2006. We currently intend to continue paying cash dividends on a quarterly basis. However, no 
assurance can be given that future dividends will be paid, since such payments are dependent on earnings, cash fl ows and other factors.
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PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
 The following table summarizes our purchases of treasury stock during the three months ended December 31, 2005:
   Total Number of Maximum Dollar Amount
 Number of Average Price Shares Purchased of Shares That May
 Common Shares Paid Per as Part of a Publicly Yet Be Purchased
Period Purchased Common Share Announced Plan Under the Plan
October 2005 512,434 $ 18.90 512,434 $ 389,750,671
November 2005 – – – 389,750,671
December 2005 1,285,911 22.54 1,285,911 360,766,237
  Total 1,798,345 $ 21.50 1,798,345 $ 360,766,237

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

 Number of Securities  Number of Securities
 To Be Issued Weighted-average Remaining Available for Future
 Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Issuance Under Equity
 Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Compensation Plans (Excluding
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Securities Refl ected in Column (A))
 (A) (B) (C)

Equity compensation plans 
  approved by security holders 11,459,739 $ 7.57 12,605,454

We have no equity compensation plans that are not approved by security holders.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(Dollars in millions, except per-share amounts)

Years Ended December 31  2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Operating revenues  $ 3,127.9 $ 2,786.2 $ 2,433.5 $ 2,247.9 $ 2,100.3
Operating income (2)   343.9 310.2 185.6 101.0 72.2
Net earnings (1) (2)  207.3 146.3 95.5 51.8 32.9
Basic earnings per share (1) (2)  1.32 .91 .60 .34 .23
Diluted earnings per share (1) (2)  1.28 .88 .58 .33 .23
Cash dividends per share  .240 .045 – – –
Total assets  1,548.9 1,502.6 1,356.2 1,322.7 1,261.2
Long-term debt and lease obligations  124.0 – – 219.0 353.6
Stockholders’ equity  817.0 860.9 703.1 590.5 458.3

(1) Refl ects a $33.6 million reserve, including accrued interest expense in 2004, and $7.7 million reversal of non-cash tax benefi t in 2003.  
See Note 5 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Refl ects a $25.8 million pretax, or a $16.5 million after-tax, charge in 2005 for a BNI arbitration settlement. See Note 9 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PERCENTAGE OF OPERATING REVENUE

Years Ended December 31   2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Operating revenues  100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Operating expenses:
  Salaries, wages and employee benefi ts  27.3 29.8 32.5 36.4 37.6
  Rents and purchased transportation  33.8 33.5 32.8 31.1 28.8
  Fuel and fuel taxes  12.4 10.4 9.6 9.4 10.8
  Depreciation and amortization  5.2 5.4 6.2 6.5 6.8
  Operating supplies and expenses  4.3 4.5 4.9 5.8 6.9
  Insurance and claims  1.8 2.0 2.6 2.5 2.0
  Operating taxes and licenses  1.2 1.3 1.4 1.4 1.6
  General and administrative expenses, net of gains  1.5 1.4 1.4 1.3 0.9
  Communication and utilities  0.7 0.8 1.0 1.1 1.2
  Arbitration settlement (2)  0.8 – – – –
    Total operating expenses  89.0 88.9 92.4 95.5 96.6
    Operating income  11.0 11.1 7.6 4.5 3.4
  Interest income  – 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
  Interest expense  0.2 0.3 0.8 1.2 1.4
  Equity in loss of associated companies   0.2 0.1 –  0.1  –
    Earnings before income taxes  10.6 10.8 6.9 3.3 2.1
  Income taxes (1)  4.0 5.6 3.0 1.0 0.5
    Net earnings  6.6% 5.2% 3.9% 2.3% 1.6%

(1) Refl ects a $33.6 million reserve, including accrued interest expense in 2004, and $7.7 million reversal of non-cash tax benefi t in 2003. 
See Note 5 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Refl ects a $25.8 million pretax, or a $16.5 million after-tax, charge in 2005 for a BNI arbitration settlement. See Note 9 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

 The following table sets forth certain operating data.

Years Ended December 31  2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Total loads  2,866,043 2,883,504 2,857,176 2,847,377 2,565,915
Average number of company-operated tractors during the year 10,316 10,042 10,293 10,712 10,710
Company tractors operated (at year end)  10,480 10,151 9,932 10,653 10,770
Independent contractors (at year end)  1,310 1,301 994 679 336
Trailers/containers (at year end)  49,733 48,317 46,747 45,759 44,318
Company tractor miles (in thousands)  952,545 943,064 943,054 981,818 1,022,677

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
 The following discussion of our results of operations and fi nancial condition should be read in conjunction with our fi nancial statements and 
related notes in Item 8. This discussion contains forward-looking statements. Please see “Forward-looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” for a 
discussion of items, uncertainties, assumptions and risks associated with these statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
 The preparation of our fi nancial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires us to 
make estimates and assumptions that impact the amounts reported in our consolidated fi nancial statements and accompanying notes. Therefore, 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and associated disclosures of contingent liabilities are affected by these estimates. 
We evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis, utilizing historical experience, consultation with third parties and other methods considered 
reasonable in the particular circumstances. Nevertheless, actual results may differ signifi cantly from our estimates. Any effects on our business, 
fi nancial position or results of operations resulting from revisions to these estimates are recognized in the accounting period in which the facts that 
give rise to the revision become known.

 We consider our critical accounting policies and estimates to be those that require us to make more signifi cant judgments and estimates when 
we prepare our fi nancial statements and include the following:

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION AND ACCIDENT COSTS
 We purchase insurance coverage for a portion of expenses related to employee injuries (workers’ compensation), vehicular collisions, and 
accidents and cargo claims. Most insurance arrangements include a level of self-insurance (deductible) coverage applicable to each claim, but 
provide an umbrella policy to limit our exposure to catastrophic claim costs that are completely insured. The amounts of self-insurance change from 
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time to time based on certain measurement dates and policy expiration dates. During 2005, we were self-insured for essentially $2 million of our 
claims for personal injury and property damage and $1 million for workers’ compensation claims. Effective January 1, 2006, the self-insured portion 
of our claims exposure for personal injury, property damage and workers’ compensation was reduced to $500,000.

 Our claims accrual policy for all self-insured claims is to recognize a liability at the time of the incident based on our analysis of the nature 
and severity of the claims and analyses provided by third-party claims administrators, as well as legal, economic and regulatory factors. Our safety 
and claims personnel work directly with representatives from the insurance companies to continually update the estimated cost of each claim. 
The ultimate cost of a claim develops over time as additional information regarding the nature, timing and extent of damages claimed becomes 
available. Accordingly, we use an actuarial method to develop current claim information to derive an estimate of our ultimate claim liability. This 
process involves the use of loss-development factors based on our historical claims experience. In doing so, the recorded liability considers future 
claims growth and provides an allowance for incurred-but-not-reported claims. We do not discount our estimated losses. At December 31, 2005, 
we had an accrual of approximately $16 million for estimated net claims. In addition, we are required to pay certain advanced deposits and 
monthly premiums. At December 31, 2005, we had a prepaid insurance asset of approximately $76 million, which represented pre-funded claims 
and premiums. We are also substantially self-insured for loss of and damage to our owned and leased revenue equipment.

REVENUE EQUIPMENT
 We operate a signifi cant number of tractors, trailers and containers in connection with our business. This equipment may be purchased or 
acquired under capital or operating lease agreements. In addition, we may rent revenue equipment from third parties and various railroads under 
short-term rental arrangements. Revenue equipment which is purchased is depreciated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful life 
down to an estimated salvage or trade-in value. We had no revenue equipment under capital lease arrangements at December 31, 2005.

 We have an agreement with our primary tractor supplier for residual or trade-in values for certain new equipment. We have utilized these 
trade-in values as well as other operational information, such as anticipated annual miles, in accounting for depreciation expense. If our tractor 
supplier were unable to perform under the terms of our agreement for trade-in values, it could have a material negative impact on our fi nancial 
results. We periodically review the useful lives and salvage values of our revenue equipment and evaluate our long-lived assets for impairment. We 
have not identifi ed any impairments to our existing assets.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
 We recognize revenue based on the relative transit time of the freight transported. Accordingly, a portion of the total revenue which will be 
billed to the customer once a load is delivered is recognized in each reporting period based on the percentage of the freight pickup and delivery 
service that has been completed at the end of the reporting period.

YEAR IN REVIEW
 Our fi nancial results for calendar year 2005 represented the fourth consecutive year of record revenues and earnings driven by good to excellent 
performance from each of our segments. Our 2005 net earnings of $207.3 million, or $1.28 per diluted share, were up 42% over the $146.3 million, 
or $.88 per diluted share, earned in 2004. Fuel costs continued to represent a challenge for the transportation industry during 2005. Our 2005 fuel 
cost per gallon averaged 33% above 2004 levels. However, due to our fuel surcharge programs and the support and understanding of our customers, 
we were able to recover the majority of our higher fuel costs.

 Freight demand during the fi rst half of 2005 was not as strong as the comparable period of 2004, but volume levels improved during the last 
half of 2005. Our DCS and JBT segments contributed most signifi cantly to our higher level of profi tability in 2005. While increases in the size of the 
DCS and JBT tractor fl eets accounted for a portion of the increases in operating income, our continued focus on capacity management and revenue 
per tractor was the primary factor driving 2005 improved net earnings. Capacity management is a continuous process of reviewing our freight and 
individual dedicated arrangements to determine whether business that is generating low or negative margins can be replaced by different business 
with better margins. We also continually analyze our business to ensure we are charging a fair price for all services that we provide. Primarily due to 
our capacity-management actions and rate increases which offset non-fuel cost increases, our 2005 revenue per tractor (excluding fuel surcharges) 
increased 5.3% and 4.3% in our DCS and JBT segments, respectively. Our JBI segment revenue per loaded mile, excluding FSC, also increased 
5.0% in 2005. While these rate increases were the best our intermodal segment has experienced in several years, we did start to incur higher railroad 
purchased transportation expense. Our JBI operating income was clearly reduced by the BNI arbitration charges. The third quarter 2005 award of 
$25.8 million included $8.3 million that related to 2004 freight movements. We also incurred signifi cant legal fees in 2004 and 2005 associated 
with this arbitration process. Excluding these 2005 legal fees and the portion of this arbitration charge that related to 2004 volumes, our JBI segment 
would have reported an increase in 2005 operating income, compared with the decrease of 5%.

 We continued our focus on safety during 2005. Although our 2005 actual insurance and safety costs were slightly higher than 2004, we were 
able to duplicate the fi ne performance we saw in 2004 in terms of DOT accidents per million miles and DOT preventable accidents per million 
miles. One signifi cant result of our industry-leading safety results over the past several years was the establishment of a multi-year $500,000 
deductible limit in our primary casualty and workers’ compensation insurance coverage. This new deductible limit was effective January 1, 2006, 
and compares with $2 million for casualty and $1 million for workers’ compensation in 2005.

 Our 2005 consolidated operating ratio (operating expenses divided by total operating revenues) was 89.0%, compared with 88.9% in 2004 and 
92.4% in 2003. The current year was the second consecutive time in over 10 years that we have achieved an operating ratio for a full year below 
90%. We re-initiated paying a quarterly cash dividend of $.015 in early 2004 and increased our dividend to $.06 in December 2004 and to $.08 in 
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December 2005. We also announced plans in December 2004 to repurchase up to $100 million of our common stock and announced an additional 
$500 million repurchase program in April 2005.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 The following table sets forth items in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings as a percentage of operating revenues and the percentage 
increase or decrease of those items as compared with the prior year.

 Percentage of Percentage Change
 Operating Revenues Between Years
 2005 2004 2003 2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003
Operating revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 12.3% 14.5%

Operating expenses:
  Salaries, wages and employee benefi ts 27.3% 29.8%  32.5%  3.0% 4.8%
  Rents and purchased transportation 33.8 33.5 32.8 13.5 16.6
  Fuel and fuel taxes 12.4 10.4 9.6 34.8 24.2
  Depreciation and amortization 5.2 5.4 6.2 8.9 (0.3) 
Operating supplies and expenses 4.3 4.5 4.9 7.0 4.0 
Insurance and claims 1.8 2.0 2.6 0.9 (13.8)
  Operating taxes and licenses 1.2 1.3 1.4 2.3 5.4
  General and administrative expenses, net of gains 1.5 1.4 1.4 19.4 10.7
  Communication and utilities 0.7 0.8 1.0  (1.9) (1.8)
  Arbitration settlement 0.8 – –    – –
    Total operating expenses 89.0 88.9 92.4 12.4 10.1
    Operating income 11.0 11.1 7.6 10.9 67.1
Interest income – 0.1 0.1 (48.8) (30.9)
Interest expense 0.2 0.3 0.8 (11.3) (63.1)
Equity in loss of associated company 0.2 0.1 – 90.6 255.9
    Earnings before income taxes 10.6 10.8 6.9 10.4 80.2
Income taxes 4.0 5.6 3.0 (19.0) 115.9
    Net earnings 6.6%  5.2%  3.9%  41.7% 53.2%

2005 Compared With 2004

Consolidated Operating Revenues
 Our total consolidated operating revenues rose to $3.13 billion in 2005, a 12.3% increase over 2004. We believe that meaningful analysis 
of our fi nancial performance and revenue growth requires that fuel surcharge (FSC) revenue, which can fl uctuate signifi cantly between reporting 
periods, be excluded when making revenue comparisons. Signifi cantly higher fuel prices resulted in FSC revenues of $336 million in 2005, 
compared with $167 million in 2004. This FSC revenue impacted our year-to-year comparison. If FSC revenues were excluded from both years, the 
increase of 2005 revenue over 2004 was 6.6%. This increased level of revenue, excluding FSC, was primarily a result of rate increases, our capacity-
management actions and a small increase in the size of our tractor fl eet. JBT segment revenue per loaded mile (excluding FSC) in 2005 averaged 
6.0% higher than 2004, while DCS’s revenue per tractor (excluding FSC) rose 5.3% in 2005 over 2004. A nearly 3% increase in 2005 JBI load 
volume also contributed to our higher levels of revenue.

Consolidated Operating Expenses
 Our total 2005 consolidated operating expenses increased 12.4% over 2004. The combination of the 12.3% increase in 2005 revenue over 
2004 and this increase in operating expenses resulted in our 2005 operating ratio increasing slightly to 89.0% from 88.9% in 2004. The total cost of 
salaries, wages and employee benefi ts increased 3.0% in 2005 over 2004, primarily due to higher levels of driver compensation. Rents and purchased 
transportation costs rose 13.5% in 2005, primarily due to additional funds paid to railroads and drayage companies, related to JBI growth.

 Fuel and fuel taxes expense was up 34.8% in 2005, primarily due to 33% higher fuel cost per gallon and slightly lower fuel miles per gallon. We 
have fuel surcharge programs in place with the majority of our customers that allow us to recognize and adjust revenue charges relatively quickly 
when fuel costs change. It is diffi cult to compare the amount of FSC revenue or the change of FSC revenue between reporting periods to fuel tax 
expense or the change of fuel expense between periods, as a signifi cant portion of fuel costs is included in our payments to railroads, dray carriers 
and other third parties. These payments are classifi ed as purchased transportation expense. While we are not always able to recover all fuel cost 
increases, partly due to empty miles run and engine-idling time, we were able to recover the majority of our increased fuel costs. The 8.9% increase 
in depreciation and amortization expense was partly a result of higher new-tractor purchase prices and an approximately 3% increase in the size of 
our company-owned tractor fl eet.

 Operating supplies and expenses rose 7.0% in 2005, partly a result of higher trailing equipment maintenance, tires and tolls costs. A number 
of states have recently raised their rates for highway and bridge tolls. The signifi cant increase in general and administrative expenses refl ects higher 
driver recruiting and testing costs, legal and professional fees related to our arbitration proceeding, and charitable contributions. In October 2005, 
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we announced a gift to the University of Arkansas that represented approximately $5.6 million. Also included in the general and administrative 
expense category, we recognized a $1.8 million net gain on the disposition of assets in 2005, compared with a $0.4 million gain in 2004. The 
arbitration settlement expense incurred during 2005 was due to the arbitration decision that was discussed earlier. We accrued approximately 
$2.7 million of interest expense during 2005 related to an IRS contingency. Our effective income tax rate was 37.9% in 2005 and 51.6% in 2004. 
Income tax expense in 2004, included a contingent tax liability of $33.6 million, including accrued interest, related to the IRS’s challenge of certain 
sale-and-leaseback transactions that closed in 1999.

 We expect our effective income tax rate to approximate 39.0% for calendar year 2006.

 The “equity in loss of associated company” item on our Consolidated Statement of Earnings refl ects our share of the operating results of TPI.

Segments
 We operated three business segments during calendar year 2005. The operation of each of these businesses is described in footnote 11. The 
following tables summarize fi nancial and operating data by segment.

Operating Revenue by Segment
 For Years Ended December 31
  (in millions of dollars)
 2005 2004 2003
JBT $ 1,020 $   928 $   841
JBI 1,284 1,115 936
DCS 844 760 671
  Subtotal 3,148 2,803 2,448
Inter-segment eliminations (20) (17) (15)
  Total $ 3,128 $ 2,786 $ 2,433

Operating Income by Segment
 For Years Ended December 31
  (in millions of dollars)
 2005 2004 2003
JBT $   119 $   103 $    49
JBI (1) 124 131 91
DCS 100 75 45
Other 1 1 1
  Total $   344 $   310 $   186

(1) JBI 2005 operating income refl ects a $25.8 million BNI arbitration settlement charge.
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Operating Data By Segment
 For Years Ended December 31
 2005 2004 2003
JBT
Operating ratio 88.4% 88.9% 94.1%
Total loads 900,427 932,818 959,551
Revenue (excl. fuel surcharge) per tractor per week $  3,128 $  2,999 $  2,739
Length of haul in miles 558 540 535
Revenue per loaded mile (excl. fuel surcharge) $  1.755 $  1.655 $  1.526
Average number of tractors during the period 5,430 5,420 5,592
  Tractors at end of period
    Company owned 4,368 4,280 4,429
    Independent contractor 1,142 1,113 994
      Total tractors 5,510 5,393 5,423
Average effective trailing equipment usage * 14,309 14,852 14,979

JBI
Operating ratio 90.4% 88.2% 90.3%
Total loads 598,857 581,849 527,404
Net change in revenue per loaded mile (excl. fuel surcharge) 5.0% 3.4% 0.7%
Tractors at end of period 1,357 1,192 1,047
Average effective trailing equipment usage * 22,881 21,409 19,719

DCS
Operating ratio 88.1% 90.2% 93.3%
Revenue (excl. fuel surch. & pur. trans.) per tractor per week $  2,935 $  2,787 $  2,644
Average number of tractors during the period 5,012 4,891 4,669
Tractors at end of period 5,010 5,045 4,608
Average effective trailing equipment usage * 11,909 11,237 11,448

* Refl ects average use of corporate-wide trailing equipment

JBT Segment
 JBT segment revenue was $1.02 billion in 2005, up 9.9% over the $928 million in 2004. Higher FSC revenue in 2005 impacted this 
comparison. If the amount of FSC revenue were excluded from both years, 2005 JBT revenue rose 4.7% over 2004. The average tractor count 
in 2005 was essentially the same as 2004. However, revenue per loaded mile, excluding FSC, was 6.0% above 2004. This higher level of 
revenue per loaded mile was offset by approximately 1.5% lower tractor utilization. Current-year revenue growth was also up due to additional 
outsourced freight activity.

 Operating income of our JBT segment climbed to $119 million in 2005, from $103 million in 2004. The signifi cant increase in revenue per 
loaded mile, excluding FSC, accounted for the majority of this operating income improvement.

JBI Segment
 JBI segment revenue grew by 15.2%, to $1.28 billion in 2005, from $1.12 billion in 2004. If FSC revenue were excluded from both years, 
2005 segment revenue increased 8.6% over 2004. A signifi cant portion of this revenue growth was driven by a 5.0% increase in revenue per loaded 
mile, excluding FSC. In addition, 2005 load volume increased 2.9% over 2004. The remaining portion of revenue growth was primarily a result of 
changes in freight mix.

 Operating income in our JBI segment declined to $124 million in 2005, from $131 million in 2004. As previously described, a $25.8 million 
arbitration settlement paid to BNI during the third quarter of 2005 reduced JBI operating income. In addition, this settlement also resulted in 
higher rail purchased transportation expense effective October 1, 2005. These costs more than offset the impact of higher rates and volume in 
the segment.

DCS Segment
 DCS segment revenue grew 11.1% to $844 million in 2005, from $760 million in 2004. The increase in fuel surcharge revenue in 2005 
signifi cantly impacted this comparison. If we exclude fuel surcharge revenue from both years, DCS segment revenue rose 6.3% over 2004. This 
increase in revenue resulted from a combination of a 2.5% increase in the average tractor count and a 5.3% increase in net revenue per tractor, 
excluding FSC. These increases were partly offset by a 1.4% decline in revenue related to freight delivered by third-party carriers. The majority of 
these movements were billed by us to the customer in 2004. In 2005, a larger portion of these movements were billed directly to our customer by 
the third-party carrier.
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 Operating income rose 34% to $100 million in 2005, compared with $75 million in 2004. Similar to 2004, we conducted reviews of our 
underperforming dedicated accounts, identifying opportunities to either improve margins or redeploy assets. Financial discipline in the area of pricing 
and contract structure helped ensure that new business during 2005 generated appropriate fi nancial returns. We also remained focused on cost 
controls and raised rates when appropriate. These efforts have improved our DCS segment operating ratio to 88.1% in 2005 from 90.2% in 2004.

2004 Compared With 2003

Overview of 2004
 Our consolidated net earnings for calendar year 2004 totaled a record $146 million. This compares with our previous record net earnings of 
$95 million in 2003. Diluted earnings per share were $.88 in 2004, also a record number, compared with $.58 in 2003. The average number of 
diluted shares outstanding in 2004 was approximately 2% higher than the comparable number in 2003. Consolidated operating revenues were 
$2.79 billion in 2004, an increase of 14% over the $2.43 billion in 2003.

 Each of our business segments contributed to our improved fi nancial results in 2004. While the overall economy and level of freight activity 
were not particularly strong during 2004, a number of factors contributed to our improved level of earnings. We continued our focus on capacity 
management, as well as individual load and lane profi tability. A number of new proprietary technology tools and increased management focus 
allowed us to reduce the amount of unprofi table lanes and freight and to properly charge for equipment and services provided to customers. In 
addition, the levels of available capacity in the industry were reduced by signifi cant increases in insurance, fuel, equipment and driver compensation 
costs. The availability of qualifi ed drivers also limited carriers’ ability to expand the size of their fl eets.

JBT Segment
 JBT segment revenue was $928 million in 2004, up 10% over the $841 million in 2003. Higher FSC revenue in 2004 impacted this comparison. 
If the amount of FSC revenue were excluded from both years, 2004 JBT segment revenue rose 7.9% over 2003. The average tractor count in 2004 
declined 3.1% from 2003. However, revenue per loaded mile, excluding FSC, was 8.7% above 2003, offsetting the decrease in the tractor fl eet and 
enhancing operating income. 2004 revenue growth was also up approximately 2% from outsourced freight activity.

 Operating income of the JBT segment rose to $103 million in 2004, from $49 million in 2003. The signifi cant increase in revenue per 
loaded mile, excluding FSC, accounted for the majority of this operating income improvement. In addition, lower JBT accident and workers’ 
compensation costs positively impacted 2004 operating income.

JBI Segment
 JBI segment revenue grew by 19%, to $1.12 billion in 2004, from $936 million in 2003. Higher FSC revenue in 2004 impacted this comparison. 
If FSC revenue were excluded from both years, 2004 JBI segment revenue increased 15.8% over 2003. A signifi cant portion of this revenue growth 
was driven by a 10.3% increase in loads. Revenue per loaded mile, excluding FSC, was 3.4% above 2003 levels. The remaining portion of revenue 
growth was primarily a result of freight mix changes.

 Operating income in the JBI segment increased to $131 million in 2004 from $91 million in 2003. The increase in 2004 JBI operating income 
levels was partly a result of the higher revenue per loaded mile, excluding FSC, increased load volume and lower revenue equipment ownership 
costs, partly offset by higher rail and dray purchased transportation expenses.

DCS Segment
 DCS segment revenue grew over 13% to $760 million in 2004, from $671 million in 2003. The higher level of FSC revenue in 2004 impacted 
this comparison. If FSC revenue were excluded from both years, 2004 DCS segment revenue rose 10% over 2003. The average number of trucks 
in the dedicated fl eet increased nearly 5% in 2004. The additional revenue growth in 2004 was primarily a result of a 6% increase in net revenue 
per tractor.

 Operating income increased 65% to $75 million in 2004 versus $45 million in 2003. During 2004, we conducted reviews of our underperforming 
dedicated accounts and identifi ed opportunities to either improve margins or redeploy assets. We also implemented cost controls and raised rates as 
appropriate. These efforts improved our DCS segment operating ratio to 90.2% in 2004 from 93.3% in 2003.

Consolidated Operating Expenses
 Total operating expenses increased 10.2% in 2004 over 2003, while operating revenues increased 14.5%. The combination of the change in 
these two categories resulted in our operating ratio improving by 350 basis points to 88.9% in 2004, from 92.4% in 2003. As previously mentioned, 
increases in revenue per loaded mile, excluding FSC, and lower casualty and workers’ compensation claims costs were two of the more signifi cant 
factors driving these changes. We also increased the number of ICs in our JBT and DCS fl eets to 1,301 at December 31, 2004, from 994 at the end 
of 2003. When we replace company-operated tractors and driver employees with ICs, certain costs such as salaries, wages, employee benefi ts and 
fuel are reduced and other costs such as purchased transportation increase.

 The expense category of salaries, wages and employee benefi ts declined to 29.8% of revenue in 2004 from 32.5% in 2003 and the total expense 
dollars only increased 4.8% from 2003, compared with the 14.5% increase in revenue. While we did increase compensation levels for many of our 
drivers in 2004, these increases were partly offset by lower workers’ compensation costs. The number of company drivers at December 31, 2004, was 
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approximately equal to the number at the end of 2003. The 16.6% increase in rents and purchased transportation was primarily due to additional 
funds paid to railroads and drayage companies, related to JBI business growth, and to the continued expansion of our IC fl eets.

 Fuel cost per gallon was approximately 21% higher in 2004 over 2003. This increase in fuel costs and slightly lower fuel effi ciency accounted 
for the 24.2% increase in fuel costs. We have fuel surcharge programs in place with the majority of our customers that allow us to adjust charges 
relatively quickly when fuel costs change. If fuel costs change rapidly, we may experience some fi nancial impact from timing differences between 
fi nancial reporting periods. We were able to recover substantially all of our increased fuel costs experienced in calendar year 2004. We have no 
contract or derivative programs in place to hedge changes in fuel costs.

  The decline in insurance and claims expense was primarily due to lower accident and claims experience in 2004. As mentioned above, 
we have continued to focus on safety throughout our entire organization. The category of general and administrative expenses includes driver 
recruiting and testing, legal and professional fees, and bad debt expense. Gains and losses on revenue equipment dispositions are also classifi ed in 
the general and administrative category. We experienced a net gain of approximately $402,000 on revenue equipment and other dispositions in 
2004, compared with a $1.1 million loss in 2003.

 Our net interest expense declined to $5.5 million in 2004 from $17.2 million in 2003. We continued to reduce our debt and capitalized lease 
obligations during 2004 and paid off all our remaining balance sheet debt and capital leases as of December 31, 2004. Our continued improvement 
in net earnings and strong cash fl ow allowed us to pay off this debt. Our effective income tax rate was 51.6% in 2004, compared with 43.1% in 
2003. Income tax expense in 2004 refl ects a contingent tax liability of $33.6 million, including accrued interest expense, related to certain sale-
and-leaseback transactions that closed in 1999. Income tax expense in 2003 refl ected the reversal of $7.7 million of non-cash tax benefi ts taken in 
early 2003 related to these sale-and-leaseback transactions. See Risk Factors for additional information on this matter. Our 2004 and 2003 income 
tax rates are also higher than statutory federal and state rates, primarily due to our driver per diem plan. This plan generates net benefi ts to most of 
our eligible drivers and to the Company. However, it does result in an increase in our effective income tax rates.

 The “equity in loss of associated company” item on our consolidated statement of earnings refl ects our share of the operating results for 
Transplace, Inc. (TPI). Effective January 1, 2003, we increased our interest in TPI to approximately 37%, from 27% in 2002. JBHT’s fi nancial 
exposure is limited to its approximate $5.3 million investment in TPI since we have not made any additional commitments or guaranteed any of 
TPI’s fi nancial obligations.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 We generate signifi cant amounts of cash provided by operating activities. Net cash provided by operating activities was $332 million in 
2005, $405 million in 2004 and $333 million in 2003. Our continued improvement in net earnings from 2003 to 2005 has enhanced net cash 
from operations. The decline in 2005 cash provided by operating activities was partly due to larger federal income tax payments and an increase in 
accounts receivable. Net cash provided by operating activities in 2005 was reduced relative to 2004 by the change in deferred income taxes, which 
in turn, was a result of reduced tax depreciation expense. The 2005 use of cash for trade accounts payable was partly due to timing differences of 
payments for insurance premiums. Cash fl ows used in investing activities primarily refl ect additions to and dispositions from our fl eet of revenue 
equipment. The higher level of cash used in investing activities during 2004 was a result of delayed tractor purchases in early 2003, while we were 
testing the new EPA-compliant engines, and our decision in late 2003 to commence purchasing tractors that were under capital lease arrangements. 
We paid $60.8 million in 2004 to purchase tractors that were previously under capital lease programs. At December 31, 2005, we had no revenue 
equipment on capital leases.

 Net cash used in fi nancing activities during 2005 refl ects the repurchase of $239 million of our common stock. We utilized cash to pay down 
debt and to purchase revenue equipment off capital leases in 2003 and 2004. We borrowed $124 million during 2005, primarily to fund stock 
repurchases and the payment of dividends.

Selected Balance Sheet Data

As of December 31 2005 2004 2003
Working capital ratio 1.72 1.49 .99
Current maturities of long-term debt and lease obligations (millions)  – – $ 172
Total debt and capitalized lease obligations (millions) $ 124 – $ 172
Total debt to equity .15 – .24
Total debt as a percentage of total capital .13 – .20

 From time to time, our Board of Directors authorizes the repurchase of our common stock. We did not repurchase any of our common stock 
during the years 2002 through 2004. As previously mentioned, the Board, in December 2004, authorized the purchase of up to $100 million of our 
common stock during the next year. We commenced repurchases of our common stock in January 2005. On April 21, 2005, our Board authorized 
the purchase of an additional $500 million of our common stock over the next fi ve years.

Liquidity
 Our need for capital typically has resulted from the acquisition of revenue equipment required to support our growth and the replacement of 
older revenue equipment with new, late-model equipment. We are frequently able to accelerate or postpone a portion of equipment replacements 
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depending on market conditions. We have, during the past few years, obtained capital through a secondary common stock offering, revolving lines 
of credit and cash generated from operations. We have also periodically utilized capital and operating leases to acquire revenue equipment.

 Since late 2001, we have been acquiring tractors and trailing equipment primarily under purchase and operating lease arrangements, and we 
anticipate purchasing our revenue equipment in the foreseeable future. We are currently committed to spend approximately $277 million, net of 
expected proceeds from sale or trade-in allowances, on revenue equipment and acquisition of new facilities and property in 2006.

 We are authorized to borrow up to $200 million under our current revolving line of credit, which expires in April 2010. At December 31, 2005, 
we had a $124 million balance outstanding under that agreement. While we do anticipate some need to borrow additional amounts on our revolver 
during 2006, we believe that our liquid assets, cash generated from operations and revolving line of credit will provide suffi cient funds for our 
operating and capital requirements for the foreseeable future. Our revolving line of credit does not contain “ratings triggers” that would accelerate 
payments or amounts due under the agreement.

 We have spent approximately $239 million on stock repurchases during calendar year 2005. We have authorization to spend an additional 
$361 million to repurchase our common stock through 2010.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 We have no capitalized lease arrangements at December 31, 2005. Our only off-balance sheet arrangements are related to our operating leases 
for trailing equipment and some limited data processing equipment and facilities. As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 20,100 trailers 
and 5,900 containers/chassis that were subject to operating leases, and we had approximately $112 million of obligations remaining under 
these leases.

 Contractual Cash Obligations
 As of December 31, 2005
 (000)
 Amounts Due By Period
 One Year One To Four To After
 Total Or Less  Three Years Five Years Five Years
Operating leases $ 112,080 $  57,953 $ 50,369 $   1,879 $ 1,879
Revolving line of credit 124,000 – – 124,000 –
  Subtotal 236,080 57,953 50,369 125,879 1,879
Commitments to acquire revenue equipment 263,812 263,812 – – –
Facilities 2,358 2,358 – – –
    Total $ 502,250 $ 324,123 $ 50,369 $ 125,879 $ 1,879

 Financing Commitments
 As of December 31, 2005
 (000)
 Commitments Expiring By Period
  One Year One To Four To After
 Total Or Less  Three Years Five Years Five Years
Revolving credit agreement $ 200,000 $       – $      – $ 200,000 $     –
Standby letters of credit 26,010 26,010  –  – –
    Total $ 226,010 $  26,010 $      – $ 200,000 $     –

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
 In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payments. SFAS No. 123R is a 
revision of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes APB 25. Among other items, SFAS No. 123R eliminated 
the use of APB 25 and the intrinsic-value method of accounting and requires companies to recognize in their fi nancial statements the cost of 
employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments, such as stock options, based on the grant date fair value of those awards. 
In accordance with SFAS No. 123R, the cost will be based on the fair value at the grant date of the award and will be recognized over the period for 
which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. The adoption of SFAS No. 123R requires us to recognize compensation 
expense for the unvested portion of outstanding share-based payments. This expense must be based on the fair value of the award on the grant date. 
It will also require the benefi ts associated with tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation to be reported as a fi nancing cash fl ow rather 
than as an operating cash fl ow as currently required. We will adopt SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006. Upon adoption, we will use the modifi ed 
prospective method and therefore will not restate our prior-period results. SFAS No. 123R will apply to new share-based awards and to unvested 
stock options outstanding on the effective date. Based on our current understanding of SFAS No. 123R, we believe this new accounting standard 
will reduce our calendar year 2006 net earnings by between three and four cents per share. While this estimate represents the fi nancial impact of 
shared-based payments outstanding at December 31, 2005, we are unable to predict the impact of any share-based payments granted subsequent to 
December 31, 2005.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 We had $124 million of debt outstanding at December 31, 2005, under our revolving line of credit. The interest rate applicable to this 
agreement is based on either the prime rate or LIBOR. Our earnings would be affected by changes in these short-term interest rates. Risk can 
be quantifi ed by measuring the fi nancial impact of a near-term adverse increase in short-term interest rates. At our current level of borrowing, a 
one percent increase in our applicable rate would reduce annual pretax earnings by $1.2 million. We have no interest rate derivatives in place at 
December 31, 2005, to mitigate this risk.

 Although we conduct business in foreign countries, international operations are not material to our consolidated fi nancial position, results of 
operations or cash fl ows. Additionally, foreign currency transaction gains and losses were not material to our results of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2005. Accordingly, we are not currently subject to material foreign currency exchange rate risks from the effects that exchange rate 
movements of foreign currencies would have on our future costs or on future cash fl ows we would receive from our foreign investment. To date, 
we have not entered into any foreign currency forward exchange contracts or other derivative fi nancial instruments to hedge the effects of adverse 
fl uctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

 The price and availability of diesel fuel are subject to fl uctuations due to changes in the level of global oil production, seasonality, weather and 
other market factors. Historically, we have been able to recover a majority of fuel price increases from our customers in the form of fuel surcharges. 
We cannot predict the extent to which high fuel price levels will continue in the future or the extent to which fuel surcharges could be collected 
to offset such increases. As of December 31, 2005, we had no derivative fi nancial instruments to reduce our exposure to fuel price fl uctuations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
 Our consolidated fi nancial statements, notes to consolidated fi nancial statements and reports thereon of our independent registered public 
accounting fi rms as specifi ed by this Item are presented following Item 15 of this report and include:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON 
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 The information required by Regulation S-K, Item 304(a) has previously been reported and is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice 
and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 20, 2006. There have been no disagreements with our accountants, as 
defi ned in Regulation S-K, Item 304(b).

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 We maintain controls and procedures designed to ensure that we are able to collect the information we are required to disclose in the reports 
we fi le with the SEC, and to process, summarize and disclose this information within the time periods specifi ed in the SEC rules. Based on an 
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, and conducted by our management, with 
the participation of our Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer, the Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer believe that 
these controls and procedures are effective to ensure that we are able to collect, process and disclose the information we are required to disclose in 
our reports fi led with the SEC within the required time periods.

 The certifi cations of our Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have been 
fi led as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this report.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
 Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as defi ned in Rules 13a-15(f) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over fi nancial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to our 
management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published fi nancial statements.

 Because of its inherent limitation, internal control over fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those 
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to fi nancial statement preparation and presentation.
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 Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2005. In making this assessment, 
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, we believe that as of December 31, 2005, our internal control over fi nancial reporting is effective 
based on those criteria.

 Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, has been audited by 
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting fi rm that also audited our consolidated fi nancial statements. Ernst & Young LLP’s 
attestation report on management’s assessment of our internal control over fi nancial reporting is included herein.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
 None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF REGISTRANT

DIRECTORS
 The schedule of directors is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders to 
be held April 20, 2006.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
 The schedule of executive offi cers is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held April 20, 2006.

CODE OF ETHICS
 We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive offi cer, principal fi nancial offi cer, principal accounting offi cer/
controller, and all other offi cers, employees and directors. Our code of ethics is available on our Internet website at www.jbhunt.com. If we make 
substantive amendments to this code of ethics or grant any waiver, including any implicit waiver, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or 
waiver on our website or in a report on Form 8-K within four days of such amendment or waiver.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 In complying with the new rules and regulations required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, NASDAQ, PCAOB and others, we have 
attempted to do so in a manner that clearly meets legal requirements, but does not create a bureaucracy of forms, checklists and other ineffi cient 
or expensive procedures. We have adopted a code of conduct, code of ethics, whistleblower policy and charters for all of our Board of Director 
Committees and other formal policies and procedures. Most of these items are available on our Company website, www.jbhunt.com. If we make 
signifi cant amendments to our code of ethics or whistleblower policy, or grant any waivers to these items, we will disclose such amendments or 
waivers on our website or in a report on Form 8-K within four days of such action.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 The information required for Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held on April 20, 2006.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND 
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SECURITY HOLDERS MATTERS
 The information required for Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held on April 20, 2006.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
 The information required for Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference from Note (8) Related-Party Transactions and Note (10) Investment 
in Affi liated Company of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held on April 20, 2006.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 The information required for Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held on April 20, 2006.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(A) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits:

 (1) Financial Statements
  The fi nancial statements included in Item 8 above are fi led as part of this annual report.

 (2) Financial Statement Schedules
   Financial statement schedules have been omitted either because they are not applicable or because the required information is included 

in our consolidated fi nancial statements or the notes thereto.

 (3) Exhibits
  The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this report on Form 10-K (“Exhibit Index”).
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SIGNATURES

 Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Lowell, Arkansas, on the 10th day of March 2006.

 J.B. Hunt TRANSPORT SERVICES, INC.
 (Registrant)

 By: /s/ Kirk Thompson
  Kirk Thompson
  President and Chief Executive Offi cer

 By: /s/ Jerry W. Walton
  Jerry W. Walton
  Executive Vice President, Finance and Administration,
  Chief Financial Offi cer

 By: /s/ Donald G. Cope
  Donald G. Cope
  Senior Vice President, Controller,
  Chief Accounting Offi cer

 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on the 
10th day of March 2006, on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

/s/ John A. Cooper, Jr. Member of the Board of Directors
 John A. Cooper, Jr. 

/s/ Wayne Garrison Member of the Board of Directors
 Wayne Garrison (Chairman)

/s/ Thomas L. Hardeman Member of the Board of Directors
 Thomas L. Hardeman

/s/ J. Bryan Hunt, Jr. Member of the Board of Directors
 J. Bryan Hunt, Jr. 

/s/ Johnelle D. Hunt Member of the Board of Directors
 Johnelle D. Hunt (Corporate Secretary)

/s/ Coleman H. Peterson Member of the Board of Directors
 Coleman H. Peterson

/s/ James L. Robo Member of the Board of Directors
 James L. Robo

/s/ Kirk Thompson Member of the Board of Directors
 Kirk Thompson (President and Chief Executive Offi cer)

/s/ Leland E. Tollett Member of the Board of Directors
 Leland E. Tollett

/s/ John A. White Member of the Board of Directors
 John A. White (Presiding Director)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number  Description

 3A The Company’s Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation dated May 19, 1988 (incorporated by reference from 
Exhibit 4A of the Company’s S-8 Registration Statement fi led April 16, 1991; Registration Statement Number 33-40028)

 3B The Company’s Amended Bylaws dated September 19, 1983 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3C of the Company’s 
S-1 Registration Statement fi led February 7, February 1985; Registration Number 2-95714)

 10A Material Contracts of the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibits 10A-10N of the Company’s S-1 Registration 
Statement fi led February 7, 1985; Registration Number 2-95714)

  10B The Company had an Employee Stock Purchase Plan fi led on Form S-8 on February 3, 1984 (Registration Number 
2-93928), and has a Management Incentive Plan fi led on Form D-8 on April 16, 1991 (Registration Number 33-40028). The 
Management Incentive Plan is incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4B of the Registration Statement 33-40028. 
The Company amended and restated its Employee Retirement Plan on Form S-8 (Registration Statement Number 33-57127) 
fi led December 30, 1994. The Employee Retirement Plan is incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 99 of Registration 
Statement Number 33-57127. The Company amended and restated its Management Plan on Form S-8 (Registration Number 
33-40028) fi led May 9, 2002. The Company fi led the Chairman’s Stock Option Incentive Plan as part of a defi nitive 14A on 
March 26, 1996.

 10.2 Summary of Compensation Arrangements with Named Executive Offi cers

 21 Subsidiaries of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.

 23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

 23.2 Consent of KPMG LLP

 31.1 Certifi cation of Chief Executive Offi cer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 31.2 Certifi cation of Chief Financial Offi cer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 32 Certifi cations of Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer pursuant to Section 1350 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.:

 We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005, 
and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity and cash fl ows for the year then ended. These consolidated fi nancial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial 
statements based on our audits.

 We conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated fi nancial 
position of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their 
cash fl ows for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

 We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness 
of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.’s internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report 
dated March 6, 2006, expressed an unqualifi ed opinion thereon.

 /s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Rogers, Arkansas
March 6, 2006
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 We are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of our consolidated fi nancial statements and related information 
appearing in this report. We take these responsibilities very seriously and are committed to maintaining controls and procedures which are designed 
to ensure that we collect the information we are required to disclose in our reports to the SEC and to process, summarize and disclose this 
information within the time periods specifi ed by the SEC.

 Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, and conducted by our 
management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer, we believe that our controls and procedures are 
effective to ensure that we are able to collect, process and disclose the information we are required to disclose in our reports fi led with the SEC 
within the required time periods.

 We are responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as defi ned in Rules 13a-15(f) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over fi nancial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and 
Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published fi nancial statements. Because of its inherent limitation, internal 
control over fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide 
only reasonable assurance with respect to fi nancial statement preparation and presentation. We assessed the effectiveness of our internal control 
over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2005. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, we believe that as of 
December 31, 2005, our internal control over fi nancial reporting is effective based on those criteria. 

 Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, has been audited by Ernst 
& Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting fi rm that also audited our consolidated fi nancial statements. Ernst & Young LLP’s 
attestation report on management’s assessment of our internal control over fi nancial reporting is included herein.

/s/ Kirk Thompson /s/ Jerry W. Walton 
 Kirk Thompson  Jerry W. Walton
 President and Chief Executive Offi cer  Executive Vice President, Finance and Administration, 
  Chief Financial Offi cer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.:

 We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting, that J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. maintained effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over fi nancial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s 
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting based on our audit.

 We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over fi nancial reporting 
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over fi nancial reporting, evaluating 
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures 
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 A company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
fi nancial reporting and the preparation of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refl ect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fi nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the fi nancial statements.

 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

 In our opinion, management’s assessment that J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. maintained effective internal control over fi nancial reporting 
as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, J.B. Hunt Transport Services, 
Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.

 We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 
balance sheet of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, 
stockholders’ equity, and cash fl ows for the year then ended of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc., and our report dated March 6, 2006, expressed an 
unqualifi ed opinion thereon.

 /s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Rogers, Arkansas
March 6, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.:

 We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004, 
and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income and cash fl ows for each of the years in the 
two-year period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audits.

 We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of J.B. Hunt 
Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash fl ows for each of the years in the 
two-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

 /s/ KPMG LLP
Tulsa, Oklahoma
March 11, 2005
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts)

Assets 2005 2004
Current assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents $     7,412 $    34,716
  Trade accounts receivable 343,501 289,146
  Income tax receivable – 19,418
  Inventories 11,138 9,692
  Prepaid licenses and permits 21,780 21,696
  Prepaid insurance 76,426 83,972
  Other current assets 14,433 16,280

      Total current assets 474,690 474,920

Property and equipment, at cost:
  Revenue and service equipment 1,332,333 1,214,833
  Land 22,854 22,014
  Structures and improvements 105,414 95,156
  Furniture and office equipment 130,960 118,020

      Total property and equipment 1,591,561 1,450,023

  Less accumulated depreciation 537,502 438,644

      Net property and equipment 1,054,059 1,011,379

Other assets 20,125 16,285
 $ 1,548,874 $ 1,502,584
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts)

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 2005 2004
Current liabilities:
  Trade accounts payable $   162,749 $   190,896
  Claims accruals 15,651 18,535
  Accrued payroll 61,001 73,750
  Other accrued expenses 9,198 10,504
  Deferred income taxes 27,487 25,414
      Total current liabilities 276,086 319,099
Long-term debt 124,000 –
Other long-term liabilities 45,834 40,294
Deferred income taxes 285,929 282,241
      Total liabilities 731,849 641,634
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
  Preferred stock, par value $100 per share.
    Authorized 10 million shares; none outstanding – –
  Common stock, par value $.01 per share. Authorized one billion shares;
    issued 167,099,432 shares at December 31, 2005, and 83,549,716 at December 31, 2004 1,671 836
  Additional paid-in capital 182,680 197,452
  Retained earnings 863,586 694,230
 1,047,937 892,518
  Treasury stock, at cost (13,286,343 shares at December 31, 2005, and
    2,156,353 shares at December 31, 2004) (230,912) (31,568)
      Total stockholders’ equity 817,025 860,950
 
 $ 1,548,874 $ 1,502,584

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts)

 2005 2004 2003
Operating revenues, excluding fuel surcharge revenues $ 2,791,926 $ 2,619,205 $ 2,346,388

Fuel surcharge revenues 335,973 166,949 87,081

      Total operating revenues 3,127,899 2,786,154 2,433,469

Operating expenses:

  Salaries, wages and employee benefi ts 855,272 830,005 791,778

  Rents and purchased transportation 1,058,406 932,133 799,176

  Fuel and fuel taxes 388,962 288,562 232,378

  Depreciation and amortization 163,034 149,776 150,221

  Operating supplies and expenses 132,895 124,172 119,339

  Insurance and claims 55,266 54,757 63,500

  Operating taxes and licenses 35,827 35,020 33,226

  General and administrative expenses, net of

    gains on asset dispositions 45,939 38,460 34,746

  Communication and utilities 22,597 23,046 23,470

  Arbitration settlement 25,801 – –

      Total operating expenses 2,783,999 2,475,931 2,247,834

      Operating income 343,900 310,223 185,635

Interest income 966 1,888 2,731

Interest expense 6,531 7,362 19,943

Equity in loss of associated company 4,709 2,470 694

      Earnings before income taxes 333,626 302,279 167,729

Income taxes 126,315 156,023 72,270

      Net earnings $   207,311 $   146,256 $    95,459

      Basic earnings per share $      1.32  $      0.91  $      0.60

      Diluted earnings per share $      1.28  $      0.88  $      0.58

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts)

  Additional
 Common Paid-in Retained Treasury Stockholders’
 Stock Capital Earnings Stock Equity
Balances at December 31, 2002 $   418 $ 184,683 $ 459,803 $  (54,417) $ 590,487
  Comprehensive income:
      Net earnings – – 95,459 – 95,459
  Tax benefi t of stock options exercised – 7,226 – – 7,226
  Stock option exercises, net of stock
    repurchased for payroll taxes – (4,936) – 14,900 9,964

Balances at December 31, 2003 418 186,973 555,262 (39,517) 703,136
  Comprehensive income:
      Net earnings – – 146,256 – 146,256
  Cash dividend paid ($0.045 per share) – – (7,288) – (7,288)
  Stock split 418 (418) – – –
  Tax benefi t of stock options exercised – 17,829 – – 17,829
  Stock option exercises, net of stock
    repurchased for payroll taxes – (6,932) – 7,949 1,017

Balances at December 31, 2004 836 197,452 694,230 (31,568) 860,950
  Comprehensive income:
      Net earnings – – 207,311 – 207,311
  Cash dividend paid ($0.24 per share) – – (37,955) – (37,955)
  Stock split 835 (835) – – –
  Tax benefi t of stock options exercised – 19,276 – – 19,276
  Purchase of treasury shares – – – (239,234) (239,234)
  Stock option exercises, net of stock
    repurchased for payroll taxes – (33,213) – 39,890 6,677

Balances at December 31, 2005 $ 1,671 $ 182,680 $ 863,586 $ (230,912) $ 817,025
  
See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Dollars in thousands)

 2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
  Net earnings  $ 207,311 $ 146,256 $  95,459
  Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to
    net cash provided by operating activities:
      Depreciation and amortization 163,034 149,776 150,221
      (Gain) loss on sale of revenue equipment (1,808) (402) 1,082
      Provision for deferred income taxes 5,761 70,162 44,803
      Equity in loss of associated company 4,709 2,470 694
      Tax benefit of stock options exercised 19,276 17,829 7,226
      Amortization of discount – 67 118
      Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
        Trade accounts receivable (54,355) (33,114) (18,876)
        Income tax receivable 19,418 (19,418) –
        Other assets 8,052 (19,224) 4,482
        Trade accounts payable (28,147) 32,010 40,955
        Claims accruals (2,884) 1,659 (1,757)
        Accrued payroll and other accrued expenses (8,515) 56,544 8,204
          Net cash provided by operating activities 331,852 404,615 332,611

Cash flows from investing activities:
  Additions to property and equipment (285,364) (451,083) (316,926)
  Proceeds from sale of equipment 81,458 175,295 125,220
  Decrease (increase) in other assets (8,738) 25,892 69
          Net cash used in investing activities (212,644) (249,896) (191,637)
Cash flows from financing activities:
  Borrowings (repayments) of long-term debt 124,000 (105,000) (97,010)
  Principal payments under capital lease obligations – (66,844) (74,446)
  Purchase of treasury stock (239,234) – –
  Stock option exercises 10,883 8,045 11,399
  Stock repurchased for payroll taxes (4,206) (7,028) (1,435)
  Dividends paid (37,955) (7,288) –
          Net cash used in financing activities (146,512) (178,115) (161,492)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (27,304) (23,396) (20,518)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 34,716 58,112 78,630

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $   7,412 $  34,716 $  58,112

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
  Cash paid during the year for:
    Interest $   5,506  $   7,559  $  19,221
    Income taxes $  77,209 $  55,578 $   9,976

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BUSINESS
 J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. (JBHT or we), together with our wholly owned subsidiaries, are one of the largest truckload, logistics 
and dedicated transportation services companies in North America. We directly transport or arrange for the transportation of full truckload, 
containerizable freight and arrange for customized freight movement services operating under the jurisdiction of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation and various state regulatory agencies.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
 JBHT’s consolidated fi nancial statements include our fi nancial statements and those of our wholly owned subsidiaries. All signifi cant 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

B. USE OF ESTIMATES
 The consolidated fi nancial statements contained in this report have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that directly affect 
the amounts reported in such statements and accompanying notes. We evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis utilizing historical experience, 
consulting with experts and using other methods we consider reasonable in the particular circumstances. Nevertheless, our actual results may differ 
signifi cantly from our estimates.

 We believe that certain accounting policies and estimates are of more signifi cance in our fi nancial statement preparation process than others. 
We believe the most critical accounting policies and estimates include the economic useful lives and salvage values of our assets, provisions for 
uncollectible accounts receivable, and estimates of exposures under our insurance and claims plans. To the extent that actual, fi nal outcomes are 
different than our estimates, or additional facts and circumstances cause us to revise our estimates, our earnings during that accounting period will 
be affected.

C. RECLASSIFICATIONS
 Certain reclassifi cations have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to current-year presentation.

D. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 For purposes of the statements of cash fl ows, we consider all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or 
less to be cash equivalents.

E. TIRES IN SERVICE
 We capitalize tires placed in service on new revenue equipment as a part of the equipment cost. Replacement tires and costs for recapping tires 
are expensed at the time the tires are placed in service.

F. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years for tractors 
and 7 to 15 years for trailing equipment, 10 to 40 years for structures and improvements, and 3 to 10 years for furniture and offi ce equipment. Salvage 
values are typically 10% to 15% for tractors and trailing equipment. Gains and losses on the sale or other disposition of equipment are recognized 
at the time of the disposition and are classifi ed in general and administrative expenses.

G. REVENUE RECOGNITION
 We recognize revenue based on relative transit time in each reporting period, with expenses recognized as incurred.

H. INCOME TAXES
 Income taxes are accounted for under the asset-and-liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax 
consequences attributable to differences between the fi nancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective 
tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply 
to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or expense in the period that includes the enactment date.
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I. EARNINGS PER SHARE
 A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted earnings per share is shown below (in thousands, except 
per-share amounts):

 Years ended December 31
 2005 2004 2003
Basic earnings per share:
  Numerator (net earnings) $ 207,311 $ 146,256 $ 95,459
  Denominator (weighted average shares outstanding) 157,583 161,542 158,800
      Earnings per share $    1.32 $     .91 $    .60
Diluted earnings per share:
  Numerator (net earnings) $ 207,311 $ 146,256 $ 95,459
  Denominator:
    Weighted average shares outstanding 157,583 161,542 158,800
    Effect of common stock equivalents 4,976 5,395 4,908
 162,559 166,937 163,707
      Earnings per share $    1.28 $     .88 $    .58

 Options to purchase shares of common stock that were outstanding during each year, but were not included in the computation of 
diluted earnings per share because the options’ exercise price was greater than the average market price of the common shares, are shown in 
the table below.

 2005 2004 2003
Number of shares under option 35,000 1,388,000 1,539,000
Range of exercise prices $ 21.25 – $ 24.43 $ 18.50 – $ 20.37  $ 10.17 – $ 13.32

 On April 21, 2005, we announced a two-for-one stock split on our common stock, payable May 23, 2005, to stockholders of record on 
May 2, 2005. All references in our fi nancial statements with regard to number of shares and the per-share amounts have been retroactively adjusted 
to refl ect this stock split.

J. CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK
 Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of trade receivables. For the years ended 
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, our top 10 customers, based on revenue, accounted for approximately 40%, 42% and 38%, respectively, of our 
total revenue. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, our top 10 customers, based on revenue, accounted for approximately 35% and 33%, respectively, 
of our total trade accounts receivable. One customer, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., accounted for 15%, 15% and 13%, respectively, of our total revenue 
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. Each of our three business segments conducts business with Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. During 
2005, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. represented approximately 20%, 14%, and 9%, respectively, of revenue for our JBI, DCS and JBT segments.

K. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
 We have adopted the intrinsic value based method of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued 
to Employees and related interpretations in accounting for compensation costs for our stock option plans. Accordingly, compensation expense is 
recognized on the date of grant only if the current market price of the underlying common stock at date of grant exceeds the exercise price.

 Had we determined compensation cost based on the fair value at the grant date for our stock options under Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (SFAS) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, our net earnings would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts 
indicated below: 

 2005 2004 2003
Net earnings as reported (in thousands) $ 207,311 $ 146,256 $ 95,459
  Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined 
    under fair value based methods for stock options, net of taxes 4,765 5,246 4,642
  Pro forma $ 202,546 $ 141,010 $ 90,817
Basic earnings per share
  As reported $     1.32 $     .91 $    .60
  Pro forma $    1.29 $     .88 $    .57
Diluted earnings per share
  As reported $    1.28 $     .88 $    .58
  Pro forma $    1.25 $     .85 $    .56
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 Pro forma net earnings refl ects only options granted since December 31, 1995. Therefore, the full impact of calculating compensation costs for 
stock options under SFAS No. 123 is not refl ected in the pro forma net earnings amounts presented above because compensation cost is refl ected 
over the options’ vesting periods of 5 to 10 years and compensation cost for options granted prior to January 1, 1996, is not considered.

 The per-share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $10.76, $11.00 and $6.45, respectively, on 
the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions: 2005 – expected dividend yield 
1.06%, volatility of 54.1%, risk-free interest rate of 4.33%, and an expected life of 6.4 years; 2004 – expected dividend yield 1.08%, volatility of 
55.6%, risk-free interest rate of 2.19%, and an expected life of 6.6 years; 2003 – expected dividend yield 0.0%, volatility of 57.4%, risk-free interest 
rate of 1.53%, and an expected life of 6.3 years.

L. IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
 We continually evaluate the carrying value of our assets for events or changes in circumstances which indicate that the carrying value may not 
be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash fl ows 
expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount 
or fair value less costs to sell.

M. CLAIMS ACCRUALS
 Claims accruals represent the self-insured portion of pending accident liability, workers’ compensation and physical damage claims. These 
accruals are estimated based on our evaluation of the nature and severity of individual claims and an estimate of future claims development based 
on our past claims experience. Our claims-accrual policy for all self-insurance is to recognize the expense when the event occurs and the costs of 
such events are probable and reasonably estimable. We apply loss-development factors to our accident and workers’ compensation claims history as 
a part of our process of recording accruals for losses that are incurred but not reported. We do not discount our estimated losses.

 Our insurance coverage for the two years ended December 31, 2005, specifi ed that the self-insured limit was the fi rst $2 million for personal 
injury and property damage and $1 million for workers’ compensation claims. During the year ended December 31, 2003, our self-insured limit on 
the majority of all our claims was $1.5 million. Effective January 1, 2006, our self-insured limits were reduced to $500,000. We are substantially 
self-insured for loss of and damage to our owned and leased revenue equipment.

N. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
 In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payments. SFAS No. 123R is a 
revision of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes APB 25. Among other items, SFAS No. 123R eliminated 
the use of APB 25 and the intrinsic-value method of accounting and requires companies to recognize in their fi nancial statements the cost of 
employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments, such as stock options, based on the grant date fair value of those awards. 
In accordance with SFAS No. 123R, the cost will be based on the fair value at the grant date of the award and will be recognized over the period for 
which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. The adoption of SFAS No. 123R requires us to recognize compensation 
expense for the unvested portion of outstanding share-based payments. This expense must be based on the fair value of the award on the grant date. 
It will also require the benefi ts associated with tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation to be reported as a fi nancing cash fl ow rather 
than as an operating cash fl ow as currently required. We will adopt SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006. Upon adoption, we will use the modifi ed 
prospective method and therefore will not restate our prior-period results. SFAS No. 123R will apply to new share-based awards and to unvested 
stock options outstanding on the effective date. Based on our current understanding of SFAS No. 123R, we believe this new accounting standard 
will reduce our calendar year 2006 net earnings by between three and four cents per share. While this estimate represents the fi nancial impact of 
shared-based payments outstanding at December 31, 2005, we are unable to predict the impact of any share-based payments granted subsequent to 
December 31, 2005.

3. DEBT (IN THOUSANDS)
 2005 2004
Borrowings under revolving line of credit $ 124,000 $      –
Less current maturities – –
 $ 124,000 $      –

 At December 31, 2005, we were authorized to borrow up to $200 million under our current revolving line of credit and had a $124 million 
balance outstanding under that agreement. This line of credit is supported by a credit agreement with a group of banks and expires in April 2010. The 
applicable interest rate under our agreement is based on either the prime rate or LIBOR, depending upon the specifi c type of borrowing, plus a margin 
based on the level of borrowings and our credit rating. The average interest rate on our outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2005, was 5.12%.
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4. CAPITAL STOCK
 We maintain a Management Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) that provides various fi nancial vehicles to compensate our key employees with JBHT 
common stock or common stock equivalents. Under the Plan, as amended, we are authorized to award, in aggregate, not more than 44 million 
shares. At December 31, 2005, there were approximately 12.6 million shares available for grant under the Plan. We have utilized three such vehicles 
to award stock or grant options to purchase JBHT common stock: restricted stock awards, restricted options and nonstatutory stock options. We 
awarded approximately 633,000 shares of restricted stock during 2005. These restricted shares have various vesting schedules ranging from fi ve to 
ten years. These restricted shares do not contain rights to vote or receive dividends until the vesting date. The compensation cost of these restricted 
shares was calculated based on the grant-date market value and totaled $.5 million in 2005. We recognize the cost of these restricted shares based 
on a straight-line basis, treating each vesting date as a separate grant.

 The Plan provides that nonstatutory stock options may be granted to key employees for the purchase of JBHT common stock for 100% of 
the fair market value of the common stock at the grant date. The options generally vest over a 10-year period and are forfeited if the employee 
terminates for any reason other than death, disability or retirement, after age 55. The Plan allows the employee to surrender shares of common 
stock that the employee has owned for at least six months in full or partial payment of the option price of an option being exercised and/or to satisfy 
withholding tax obligations incident to the exercise of an option.

 A summary of the restricted and nonstatutory options to purchase JBHT common stock follows:

  Weighted Average Number
 Number Exercise Price of Shares
 of Shares Per Share Exercisable
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 17,814,800 $ 4.47 1,977,652
  Granted 1,769,000 11.72
  Exercised (3,373,466) 4.14
  Terminated (439,220) 5.10

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 15,771,114 5.34 1,422,716
  Granted 1,553,000 19.73
  Exercised (3,394,246) 4.42
  Terminated (89,700) 8.28

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 13,840,168 7.15 918,524
  Granted 746,200 20.69
  Exercised (3,015,029) 4.53
  Terminated (111,600) 7.81

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 11,459,739  $ 7.57 1,456,687

 The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005:

 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
                  —————————————————————————       ———————————————

   Weighted Weighted  Weighted
   average average  average
 Range  remaining exercise  exercise
 of exercise Options contractual price Options price
 prices outstanding life (in years) per share exercisable per share
 $ 2.65 – $ 10.00  8,425,232  6.0 $  4.42 1,349,380  $  4.42
  10.01 – 20.00   1,597,907  8.5 12.64 97,607 12.55
  20.01 – 30.00   1,436,600  9.5  20.41   9,700   20.53
 $ 2.65 – $ 30.00  11,459,739  6.8 $  7.57   1,456,687  $  5.08

 The weighted average exercise price per share of options exercisable at December 31, 2004 and 2003, was $4.70 and $4.21, respectively.
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5. INCOME TAXES
 Income tax expense attributable to earnings before income taxes consists of (in thousands):

 2005 2004 2003
Current:
  Federal $ 114,745 $  83,428 $ 26,439
  State and local 5,809 2,433 1,028
 120,554 85,861 27,467
Deferred:
  Federal 5,131 61,375 38,535
  State and local 630 8,787 6,268
 5,761 70,162 44,803
    Total tax expense $ 126,315 $ 156,023 $ 72,270

 Income tax expense attributable to earnings before income taxes differed from the amounts computed using the statutory federal income tax 
rate of 35% for the following reasons (in thousands):

 2005 2004 2003
Income tax – statutory rate $ 116,769 $ 105,798 $ 58,706
State tax, net of federal effect 7,492 6,439 3,019
Non-deductible meals and entertainment 5,380 6,255 6,694
Reserve for tax contingency – 33,600 –
Change in effective state tax rate, net of federal effect  (1,914) 2,622 2,215
Other, net (1,412) 1,309 1,636
    Total tax expense $ 126,315 $ 156,023 $ 72,270

 The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to signifi cant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, are presented below (in thousands):

 2005 2004
Deferred tax assets:
  Claims accruals, principally due to accruals for financial reporting purposes $   1,023 $   1,987
  Accounts receivable, principally due to allowance for doubtful accounts 1,831 2,541
  Vacation pay  5,627 5,139
  Long-term deferred compensation  2,558 1,614
  Other 2,042 678

    Total gross deferred tax assets  13,081 11,959

Deferred tax liabilities:
  Plant and equipment, principally due to differences
    in depreciation and capitalized interest 266,883 259,999
  Prepaid permits and insurance, principally due to
    expensing for income tax purposes 31,582 29,963
  Sale-and-leaseback transaction 20,102 20,102
  Other 7,930 9,550

    Total gross deferred tax liabilities 326,497 319,614

    Net deferred tax liability $ 313,416 $ 307,655

 Income taxes payable at December 31, 2005, were $1.9 million and refundable income taxes at December 31, 2004, were $19.4 million. These 
amounts have been included in other accrued expenses and income tax receivable on the balance sheet, respectively.

 We believe our history of profi tability and taxable income, the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, and our utilization of tax planning suffi ciently 
supports the carrying amount of the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, we have not recorded a valuation allowance as all deferred tax benefi ts are 
more likely than not to be realized.

 The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has proposed to disallow the tax benefi ts associated with certain sale-and-leaseback transactions.
In 1999, we entered into a series of transactions effecting a sale and leaseback of a portion of our Intermodal container and chassis fl eet for a selling 
price of approximately $175 million. This transaction was examined by the IRS in an audit of our 1998 and 1999 tax returns. In December 2003, we 
received an IRS Notice of Proposed Assessment which disallowed the tax benefi ts associated with these transactions, and as a result, we have fi led 
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an appeal in the matter. We have had preliminary discussions with the IRS Appeals Division and have been informed that the IRS Examination 
Division has been instructed to prepare additional work since their case had not been developed adequately for the appellate hearing. To date, we 
have not been contacted by the IRS Examination Division to provide any additional information for their review. If a resolution of the matter 
cannot be reached in the appeals process, the IRS will forward a 90-day letter, also known as a Notice of Defi ciency. A resolution of the dispute 
could occur at any point in the administrative process or could extend through a trial and court appeals. If we are unsuccessful in defending this 
transaction, we could owe additional taxes and interest. Based on events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2004, we have reversed all prior 
benefi ts taken on this transaction, including accrued interest. The liability for this contingency, approximately $36.3 million (including accrued 
interest) at December 31, 2005, and $33.6 million at December 31, 2004, is a component of other long-term liabilities on our balance sheets and 
not a component of deferred income taxes. We continue to believe our tax positions comply with applicable tax law for which we received advice 
and opinions from our then external public accountants and attorneys prior to entering into these transactions, and we continue to vigorously 
defend against the IRS position using all administrative and legal processes available. If the IRS were successful in disallowing 100% of the tax 
benefi t from this transaction, the total ultimate impact on liquidity could be approximately $44 million, excluding interest.

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
 We maintain a defi ned contribution employee retirement plan, which includes a 401(k) option, under which all employees are eligible to 
participate. We match a specifi ed percentage of employee contributions, subject to certain limitations. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 
2004 and 2003, JBHT matching contributions to the plan were $7.6 million, $6.0 million and $6.2 million, respectively.

7. FAIR VALUE OF SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and trade accounts payable on our balance sheets at December 31, 2005 
and 2004, approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments. Long-term debt at December 31, 2005, approximates fair value 
since the applicable interest rates approximate fair market rates.

8. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 Dr. John A. White has been a member of our Board of Directors since 1998 and serves as the Chairman of our Audit Committee. Dr. White is 
the Chancellor of the University of Arkansas. In October 2005, we announced a gift of $10 million to the University of Arkansas to facilitate the 
construction of a new J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. Center for Academic Excellence building. Johnelle D. Hunt is the wife of our founder and 
former Senior Chairman of the Board, Mr. J.B. Hunt. She also serves as our Corporate Secretary and has been a member of our Board of Directors 
since 1993. Mrs. Hunt serves as Treasurer for the University of Arkansas’ Campaign for the 21st Century. Neither of the aforementioned board 
members was instrumental in securing this contribution, nor did either participate in the voting processes related to this transaction.

 In April 2004, we sold an aircraft hanger, which the Company had owned since 1993. Net proceeds from this sale totaled $988,000 and we 
recognized an approximate $532,000 gain on this sale. The hanger was sold to Pinnacle Air Facilities LLC (Pinnacle). Mr. J.B. Hunt, our former 
Senior Chairman, is a principal and a director of Pinnacle. The selling price of the hanger was approved by our Board of Directors and was based 
on a written appraisal of the property prepared by an independent third-party appraiser.

 9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 During 1999, we entered into a sale-and-leaseback transaction for a portion of our container fl eet. Containers having a net book value of 
approximately $175 million were sold to third-party leasing companies at approximate net book value. A gain of approximately $600,000 on 
the transaction has been deferred and will be amortized to income in relation to rent expense recognized under the leases. The containers are 
being leased back under operating leases over terms of four to ten years. Approximately $5.9 million of this intermodal trailing equipment was 
repurchased in December 2004.

 As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately $112 million of obligations remaining under operating lease arrangements related to trailing 
equipment, terminal facilities and computer equipment. None of our operating leases contains any guaranteed residual value clauses. Under the 
terms of certain lease agreements, we are required to maintain certain covenants, including minimum credit ratings. We were in compliance with 
these requirements at December 31, 2005.

 Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases (with initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year) as of 
December 31, 2005, are (in thousands):

  Operating
  Leases

 2006 $  57,953
 2007 36,348
 2008 14,021
 2009 1,106
 2010 773
 Thereafter  1,879
  $ 112,080
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 Total rent expense was $93.5 million in 2005, $95.0 million in 2004, and $109.2 million in 2003.

 At December 31, 2005, we had outstanding commitments to acquire approximately $277 million of revenue equipment and property in 2006. 
This amount is net of expected allowances and sales proceeds from equipment dispositions.

 During 2005, we issued fi nancial standby letters of credit as a guarantee of our performance under certain operating lease commitments and 
self-insurance arrangements. If we default on our commitments under the lease agreements or other arrangements, we are required to perform 
under these guarantees. The undiscounted maximum amount of our obligation to make future payments in the event of defaults is approximately 
$26.0 million.

 We are involved in certain other claims and pending litigation arising from the normal conduct of business. Based on the present knowledge of 
the facts and, in certain cases, opinions of outside counsel, we believe the resolution of these claims and pending litigation will not have a material 
adverse effect on our fi nancial condition, our results of operations or our liquidity.

 As previously disclosed, an arbitration process commenced on July 2, 2004, with the BNSF Railway (BNI). BNI provides a signifi cant 
amount of rail transportation services to our JBI business segment. The arbitration process was initiated in accordance with the terms of our 
Joint Service Agreement (JSA) with BNI, after we were unable to resolve our disagreements through mediation. We announced that an interim 
award was issued by the arbitration panel on September 16, 2005. As a result of this decision, we recorded, in the third quarter of 2005, pretax 
charges of $25.8 million, or $16.5 million after income taxes. On October 19, 2005, the arbitration panel issued an order terminating this 
arbitration proceeding and declaring that the interim award be adopted as the fi nal award in this matter. Normal commercial business activity 
between the parties, including load tendering, load tracing, billing and payments, has continued on a timely basis during the entire mediation 
and arbitration process.

10. AFFILIATED COMPANY
 We have a 37% ownership interest in a logistics joint venture called Transplace, Inc. (TPI). TPI was formed in July 2000 when we, along 
with fi ve other motor carriers, contributed our existing non-asset-based logistics business to the new entity. No gain or loss was recognized upon 
the formation of TPI. We routinely enter into transactions with TPI regarding the movement of freight. We provide various services to TPI 
under a shared-service agreement, primarily related to computer system operations, services and maintenance. We earn transportation revenues 
from and purchase transportation services from TPI. We also utilize travel services provided by TPI. We advanced funds to TPI in the form of a 
note receivable during 2005. This note receivable balance, including accrued interest, was $8.6 million at December 31, 2005, carried an interest 
rate of 6.0% and is due on January 7, 2007. This note receivable from TPI is classifi ed as an other asset on our consolidated balance sheet at 
December 31, 2005. A summary of our revenues and expenses related to TPI for the three-year periods ended December 31, 2005, and balance 
sheet amounts at December 31, 2005 and 2004, is presented below (in millions):

 For The Three-year Periods
 Ended December 31
 2005 2004 2003
Revenue earned from TPI for providing transportation services $ 46.2 $ 67.9 $ 57.6

Amount billed to TPI for information-technology services provided $  4.6 $  5.4 $  6.3

Purchased transportation expense paid to (received from) TPI for freight movements $  (.2) $  3.3 $ 14.3

Payments to TPI for travel services provided $   .4 $   .4 $   .3

 Amounts at December 31
 2005 2004
Accounts receivable from TPI, included in trade accounts receivable $  7.7 $  9.1

Note receivable, including interest from TPI $  8.6 $    –



66

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION
 We have three reportable business segments, Truck (JBT), Intermodal (JBI) and Dedicated Contract Services (DCS). JBT business includes 
full truckload dry-van freight that is typically transported utilizing company-owned or -controlled revenue equipment. This freight is typically 
transported over roads and highways and does not move by rail. The JBI segment includes freight that is transported by rail over at least some 
portion of the movement and also includes certain repositioning truck freight moved by JBI equipment or third-party carriers, when such highway 
movement is intended to direct JBI equipment back toward intermodal operations. DCS segment business typically includes company-owned 
revenue equipment and employee drivers that are assigned to a specifi c customer, traffi c lane or service. DCS operations usually include formal, 
written long-term agreements or contracts which govern services performed and applicable rates.

 Our customers are geographically dispersed across the United States. One customer accounted for approximately 15%, 15% and 13% 
of consolidated operating revenues in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. A summary of certain segment information is presented below 
(in millions):

 Assets (1)
 2005 2004 2003
JBT $   522 $   454 $   410
JBI  416   359  328
DCS  386   355  319
Other (includes corporate) 225  335   299
      Total $ 1,549 $ 1,503 $ 1,356

 Revenues
 2005 2004 2003
JBT $ 1,020  $   928 $   841
JBI  1,284 1,115  936
DCS  844  760  671
      Total segment revenues  3,148  2,803 2,448
Inter-segment eliminations (20)  (17)  (15)
      Total $ 3,128 $ 2,786 $ 2,433

 Operating Income
 2005 2004 2003
JBT $   119 $   103 $    49
JBI (2)  124  131  91
DCS  100  75  45
Other   1  1  1
      Total $   344 $   310  $   186

 Depreciation and Amortization Expense
 2005 2004 2003
JBT $    67 $    61  $    67
JBI  26 22  20
DCS  59 56  51
Other   11 11  12
      Total $   163 $   150  $   150

(1) Business segment assets exclude the net impact of inter-company transactions and accounts.

(2) JBI 2005 operating income refl ects a $25.8 million BNI arbitration settlement charge.



67

12. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
 Operating results by quarter for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, are as follows (in thousands, except per-share data):

 Quarter
 First Second Third (1) Fourth (2)

2005:
  Operating revenues $ 709,178 $ 759,206 $ 801,140 $ 858,375

  Operating income $  79,167 $  93,005 $  65,102 $ 106,626

  Net earnings $  47,499 $  54,631 $  39,843 $  65,338

  Basic earnings per share $     .30 $     .34 $     .25 $     .42

  Diluted earnings per share $     .29 $     .33 $     .25 $     .41

2004:
  Operating revenues $ 617,698 $ 679,037 $ 718,614 $ 770,805

  Operating income $  58,217 $  79,174 $  82,669 $  90,163

  Net earnings $  32,974 $  45,625 $  47,875 $  19,782

  Basic earnings per share $     .21 $     .29 $     .30 $     .12

  Diluted earnings per share $     .20 $     .27 $     .29 $     .12

(1) Refl ects a $25.8 million pretax, or a $16.5 million after-tax, charge in 2005 for a BNI arbitration settlement.

(2) Refl ects a $33.6 million reserve, including interest expense, of a non-cash tax benefi t in 2004.
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2005 AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

“MILLION MILERS”
 Each year, J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. recognizes drivers who reach the pinnacle of safe driving – completing one million, 
two million or three million accident-free miles! It takes dedicated drivers who are truly committed to SAFETY to achieve such milestones. We are 
proud to acknowledge these drivers who are helping us set a high standard for safety achievement. 

 The table below shows the number of drivers inducted in 2005, as well as the total number of drivers honored since the program began. All 
recipients are presented with cash awards at a formal ceremony held at the J.B. Hunt Corporate Headquarters.

 Milestone Drivers Inducted in 2005 Total Drivers Inducted
 One Million Miles 194 1,649
 Two Million Miles  30   187
 Three Million Miles   2     8
 Total 226 1,844

2005 RECOGNITION
As a leading transportation logistics solutions provider, J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. has been recognized by a number of organizations over the 
years for the level of innovation, commitment and performance achieved. Below is a sample listing of the recognitions received in 2005:

The Home Depot – Delivery Partner of the Year

The Home Depot – Truckload Partner of the Year

Scotts Miracle-Gro Company – Core Carrier of the Year

Target Corporation – Outbound Carrier of the Year

Lowe’s Companies – Intermodal Provider of the Year

Kohl’s Department Stores – Carrier Partner of the Year

Best Buy – Quality Partnership Award

Fortune Magazine – America’s Most Admired Companies

Forbes Magazine – Global List of the World’s Biggest Companies

Forbes Magazine – 100 Best Mid-Cap Stocks

Treasury & Risk Management Magazine – Alexander Hamilton Award

Training Magazine – Training Top 100

Computerworld – Best Places to Work in Information Technology

Computerworld – Premiere 100 IT Leaders

Network World – 50 Enterprise All-Stars
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